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Consolidated Financial Highlights

Balance sheet highlights

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Cash and due from banks 4,910.5 3,427.8
Loans and advances to customers 10,475.0 9,884.3
Securities 6,173.2 6,314.5
Due to banks 874.8 772.5
Due to customers 16,245.5 14,546.2
Shareholders’ equity 1,427.6 1,407.4
Balance sheet total 23,889.7 21,579.3

Statement of income highlights

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Net interest income 226.9 221.1
Net banking fee and commission income 492.4 456.9
Operating expenses (665.3) (721.5)
Profit from operations before impairments and other non-recurring items 164.8 53.9
(Loss) for the year (93.1) (287.5)

Group personnel

 2012 2011

Average number of employees during the year 2,367 2,547
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On 23 July 2012, the then EFG Group 
disposed of its controlling investment in 
Eurobank Ergasias SA. As from that date, EFG 
Group is essentially composed of EFG Bank 
European Financial Group SA, Geneva, and its 
56%-controlled subsidiary, EFG International, 
a global private bank organisation based in 
Zurich and listed on SIX Swiss Exchange.

2012 saw continuing uncertainty in the global 
economy and difficult conditions for the 
financial services industry, with particular 
pressure on Swiss private banking businesses. 
In this environment, the EFG Group has 
delivered good and encouraging operating 
performance thanks to EFG International’s 
business model, combining offshore and onshore 
private banking and asset management in an 
open architecture and a successfully completed 
review and resetting of the business, refocusing 
on core private banking, exiting loss-making or 
marginal businesses / locations and addressing 
unproductive client relationship officers.

EFG Group’s consolidated revenue-generating 
assets under management were CHF 79.2 billion 
at year end compared to CHF 79.0 billion 
a year ago. EFG Group’s main constituent, 
EFG International, recorded net new assets 
from continuing businesses of CHF 3 billion, 
representing an annualised growth of 4%. Forex 
and market prices had another CHF 1.0 billion 
positive effect, while there was an outflow of 
CHF 3.7 billion in relation to exited businesses. 
The revenue margin stood at 105bps, compared 
with 94bps a year earlier. With the exception of 
the Swiss business, all other businesses delivered 
stronger revenues. 

Against this backdrop, EFG Group’s total 
consolidated operating income for 2012 rose 
to CHF 830 million, up 7.1% from CHF 775 
million for the previous year. This included 
a CHF 35 million, or 7.8%, increase in net 
banking fee and commission income, relating 
essentially to securities and investment activities.

Consolidated operating expenses were CHF 665 
million in 2012, down 7.8% from CHF 722 
million for the previous year, reflecting EFG 
International’s underlying recurrent cost savings 
of CHF 40 million derived from the business 

review in respect of continuing businesses, 
which improved its cost-to-income ratio to 79%, 
from 92% a year earlier.

As a result, net consolidated profit from 
operations before impairments and other non-
recurring items increased to CHF 165 million, 
versus CHF 54 million for the previous year.

2012 saw a number of other positive 
achievements, including the following:

•	 EFG	 Group’s	 consolidated	 capital	 adequacy	
position was strengthened, with a BIS capital 
adequacy ratio of 19.8% at end-2012, up 
from 14.8% a year earlier. This was mostly 
the result of the operating profit accruing to 
regulatory capital (+ 247bps), the successful 
IPO of EFG Financial Products in October 
(+197bps), the partial repayment of an 
intercompany loan that used to come as a 
deduction to regulatory capital (+123bps) 
and a net fair value gain on available for 
sale investment securities (+67bps). These 
were partially offset by the increase in risk-
weighted assets (-118bps);

•	 Exposure	 to	 peripheral	 Eurozone	 countries	
decreased by 60% to CHF 166 million at 
year-end, or 0.7% of total consolidated 
balance sheet assets.

Consequently to an EFG Group-level one-off 
loan impairment charge of CHF 215 million 
and other loan and intangibles impairments and 
other non-recurring charges totalling CHF 22 
million (compared to impairment and other non-
recurring charges totalling CHF 339 million 
a year earlier), EFG Group recorded a net 
consolidated IFRS loss of CHF 93 million for 
2012, versus a net loss of CHF 288 million for 
the previous year. 

The consolidated balance sheet total increased 
to CHF 23.9 billion, from CHF 21.6 billion a 
year ago. This CHF 2.3 billion increase reflects 
two major elements. Firstly, cash and cash 
equivalents rose by CHF 1.5 billion to CHF 4.5 
billion, with a corresponding 

CHF 1.7 billion, or 12%, increase in customer 
deposits to CHF 16.2 billion. Secondly, loans to 
customers increased by CHF 0.6 billion, or 6%, 

Report of the Board of Directors on the
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
December 31, 2012
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to CHF 10.5 billion, comprising CHF 7.7 billion 
of loans almost entirely secured by diversified 
liquid marketable securities pledged as collateral 
and CHF 2.7 billion of loans secured by 
properties located in European prime locations.

Looking ahead

With a reset and simplified EFG International 
business, the focus is now on sustainable 
organic growth, flowing through with minimal 
dilution to productivity and profits. 2013 has 
started encouragingly and EFG International 
remains committed to delivering its medium-
term objectives:

•	 Net	 new	 assets	 in	 the	 range	 5–10%	 per	
annum;

•	 A	reduced	cost-to-income	ratio	to	below	75%	
by 2014;

•	 Gross	margin	broadly	at	 the	 level	prevailing	
at the time of the business review (circa 
94	 bps	 –	 84bps	 excluding	 EFG	 Financial	
Products);

•	 As	 a	 result,	 delivering	 strong	 double-digit	
growth in profit and a double-digit return 
on shareholders’ equity; EFG International’s 
target of achieving an IFRS net profit of 
CHF 200 million by 2014 is considered 
challenging on account of industry 
conditions and net new asset development 
over the past 18 months, but should be 
achievable in 2015.

 
 
 
 

 
Spiro J. Latsis 
Chairman of the Board
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The EFG Group

EFG Group is a global private banking group 
operating through:

•	EFG International, a global private banking 
group based in Zurich and listed on SIX 
Swiss Exchange, and its direct parent 
company,

•	EFG Bank European Financial Group SA, a 
bank based in Geneva.

EFG International

EFG International is a global private banking 
group. Its broad range of private banking and 
asset management services include investment 
services and securities brokerage, wealth 
management, deposits, foreign exchange, 
lending (mainly secured by assets pledged as 
collateral), custody services, payment services, 
financial advisory, set-up, management and 
distribution of investment funds (including 
hedge funds and funds-of-funds), structured 
products, trust services and personal financial 
services.

The EFG International group is headquartered 
in Zurich and is organised into five business 
segments, with Private Banking and Wealth 
Management being managed on a regional basis 
and Asset Management being managed on a 
global basis, as follows:

•	 Switzerland,	 with	 offices	 in	 Zurich	
and Geneva, its branch in Cayman, its 
subsidiaries in the Liechtenstein and in 
the Bahamas;

•	 Continental Europe : with offices in 
Luxembourg, Madrid and Monaco;

•	 United Kingdom and Channel Islands: with 
offices in London, the Birmingham region, 
Guernsey and Jersey;

•	 Asia: with offices in Hong Kong, Jakarta, 
Shanghai, Singapore and Taipei;

•	 Americas: with offices in Miami, Bogota, 
Key Biscayne, Lima, Los Angeles, 
Montevideo, Punta del Este and Quito; and

•	 Asset Management: with offices in Geneva, 
Hong Kong, London, Miami, New York, 
Singapore and Zurich.

EFG International has adopted an “open 
platform” philosophy, giving client relationship 
officers the controlled freedom to run their 
business, free to serve their clients without the 
distortions of sales targets and allowing them 
to select the financial products that correspond 
best to their clients’ needs, irrespective of 
whether these products have been developed 
internally or are being offered by third-party 
institutions. This business model is organised 
around a reliable, scalable operational and 
IT platform and is subject to strict internal 
controls.

In	Switzerland,	EFG	Bank	AG	offers	its	services	
out of Zurich and Geneva to a domestic and 
international clientele, providing them with the 
full range of the group’s financial products and 
services. In addition, the Geneva offices of the 
bank perform a large part of the IT processing 
of branches of the bank and other banks in the 
group. Fund management, distribution, custody 
and administration services are also provided 
out of Geneva. EFG Bank AG has subsidiaries in 
Liechtenstein and in Monaco.

In Monaco, EFG Bank (Monaco) provides 
its private and institutional clients with 
personalised management of assets as well 
as investment advisory services based on 
traditional asset classes and investment funds, 
particularly hedge funds and private equity 
placements. It also caters to the needs of wealthy 
families in offering family office services.

EFG Bank’s branch in Cayman, subsidiary in 
the Bahamas, EFG Bank & Trust (Bahamas) 
Limited, Cayman and its subsidiary EFG Wealth 
Management (Cayman) Ltd, combine private 
banking and wealth management services.

In Luxembourg, EFG International has a private 
banking subsidiary, EFG Bank (Luxembourg) 
SA, providing its clients with a wide range of 
banking and investment services.

EFG Group’s Activities
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In Spain, EFG International offers wealth 
management and private banking services 
through its Madrid-based subsidiary Asesores y 
Gestores Financieros SA and the Madrid branch 
of EFG Bank (Luxembourg) SA.

In London, EFG Private Bank Limited services 
an international and domestic clientele. It is 
authorised and regulated by the Financial 
Services Authority. Through its subsidiary, 
EFG Independent Financial Advisers Limited, 
it also provides asset management and 
financial advisory services. EFG Private Bank 
Limited also offers stockbroking services in 
the Birmingham region through its division 
EFG Harris Allday.

To meet the needs of its international clientele, 
EFG Private Bank Limited owns a subsidiary 
in Guernsey, which has a branch in Jersey, 
providing offshore private banking, and a 
subsidiary in Jersey, EFG Offshore Limited, 
offering trust, company and fund administration 
services.

In Asia, EFG Bank AG has licensed banking 
branches in Hong Kong and Singapore, and 
representative offices in Shanghai and Jakarta. 
In addition, EFG International has a securities 
investment consulting subsidiary in Taipei.

In the Americas, the EFG International group 
has operations in the US and Latin America 
from where it services a Latin American 
clientele through its Miami-based broker/
dealer subsidiary, EFG Capital International 
Corp., its subsidiary in Lima, EFG Bank AG’s 
subsidiary in Montevideo and Punta del Este 
and representative offices in Bogota and Quito.

EFG Asset Management develops, manages and 
distributes a wide range of innovative products, 
tailored to meet its clients’ requirements, 
taking advantage of changing financial 
market conditions. This offering covers a 
broad spectrum of products (equities, foreign 
exchange, fixed-income securities, deposits, 
notes, derivatives, etc.), with notable expertise in 
investment funds, funds-of-funds, hedge funds 
and other alternative investments. EFG Asset 

Management operates from Zurich, Geneva, 
Hamilton (Bermuda), Hong Kong, London, 
Miami, New York and Singapore.

EFG Bank European Financial Group SA

EFG Bank European Financial Group SA, which 
is	based	in	Geneva,	Switzerland,	is	the	regulated	
parent company of the EFG Group. It holds a 
direct controlling interest in EFG International. 
Its activities consist on the one hand, as a 
holding company, of administrative tasks 
related to the consolidated supervision of the 
EFG Group exercised by the Swiss FINMA 
at the level of EFG Bank European Financial 
Group SA and on the other hand, as a bank, 
servicing a traditional private banking clientele, 
using the operating platform of its Swiss 
banking subsidiary, EFG Bank AG.
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Group Presence

l EFG Bank European Financial Group SA

l EFG International group

EFG Bank European Financial Group SA
Quai du Seujet 24
1201 Geneva
Switzerland
www.efggroup.com

EFG International AG
Bahnhofstrasse 12
8001 Zurich
Switzerland
www.efginternational.com

EFG International group

EFG Bank European Financial Group SA

Singapore

Jakarta

Hong Kong Taipei

Nassau / Lyford Cay

New York

Monaco

Jersey
Guernsey

Birmingham
region

Zurich
Liechtenstein

Luxembourg
London

Lima

Bogota
Quito

Cayman Islands

Madrid

Los Angeles

Shanghai

Montevideo / Punta del Este

Miami / Key Biscayne

Geneva
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EFG International group

EFG Bank European Financial Group SA

Singapore

Jakarta

Hong Kong Taipei

Nassau / Lyford Cay

New York

Monaco

Jersey
Guernsey

Birmingham
region

Zurich
Liechtenstein

Luxembourg
London

Lima

Bogota
Quito

Cayman Islands

Madrid

Los Angeles

Shanghai

Montevideo / Punta del Este

Miami / Key Biscayne

Geneva
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Board of Directors

Mr S. J. Latsis, Chairman

Ms A.-M. L. Latsis

Ms M. Latsis

Mr J. P. Cuoni *

Mr A. B. Lévy *

Mr H. N. Matthews *

* independent members of the Board of Directors

Management

Management Committee

Mr Pericles Petalas, Chief Executive Officer

Mr Eric Bertschy, Senior Vice President

Mr Patrick de Figueiredo, Senior Vice President

Other members of Management

Mrs Isabelle Imesch Perego, Vice President

Mr Marc Peterhans, Vice President

Operations

EFG Bank AG, Central Operations, Geneva

Board of Directors and Management of
EFG Bank European Financial Group SA
(as at December 31, 2012)
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Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of EFG Bank European 
Financial Group SA, which comprise the statement of income, statement of comprehensive income, 
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flow and notes (pages 12 to 88), for the 
year ended December 31, 2012.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining 
an internal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of 
Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards as well as 
the International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal 
control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act 
(AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances 
incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 
that an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Alex	Astolfi	 	 Christophe	Kratzer	  
Audit expert  Audit expert 
Auditor in charge

Geneva, April 25, 2013

Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting of 
the Shareholders of EFG Bank European Financial Group SA
on the consolidated financial statements
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(All figures in millions of CHF) Note 2012 2011

Interest and discount income  440.0 428.9
Interest expense  (213.1) (207.8)

Net interest income 5 226.9 221.1

Banking fee and commission income  628.8 564.8
Banking fee and commission expense  (136.4) (107.9)

Net banking fee and commission income 6 492.4 456.9

Dividend income 7 24.3 19.3
Net trading income 8 72.5 82.3
Net loss from financial instruments designated at fair value 9 10.3 (10.8)
Gains less losses from investment securities 10 (1.9) 5.1
Other operating income  5.6 1.5

Net other income  110.8 97.4

Operating income  830.1 775.4

Operating expenses 12 (665.3) (721.5)
Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill 14 (1.4) (244.4)
Impairment on available-for-sale investment securities 15  -   (72.5)
Provision for restructuring costs 42  (11.7)  (10.0)
Currency translation loss transferred from the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income   (3.3)  (10.0)
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 16  (1.7)  -
Impairment on loans and advances to customers 11  (219.2)  (1.9)

(Loss) before tax  (72.5) (285.0)

Income tax (expense) 17 (20.6) (2.5)

Net (loss) for the year  (93.1) (287.5)

Net (loss) / profit after tax attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group  (154.2) (154.7)
Non-controlling interests  61.1 (132.8)

  (93.1) (287.5)

The notes on pages 17 to 88 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Income
for the year ended December 31, 2012
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(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011

(Loss) for the year (93.1) (287.5)

Other comprehensive income

Available for sale securities
Fair value gains / (losses) on available for sale investment securities, before tax 49.0 (50.1)
Tax effect on changes in fair value of available-for-sale investment securities (9.9) 7.4
Transfer to the Statement of Income of realised available-for-sale investment securities 
reserve, with no tax effect 1.9 (5.1)
Impairment on available-for-sale investment securities transferred to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, with no tax effect - 72.5

Foreign currency translation
Currency translation differences, before tax 2.8 (15.8)
Currency translation losses transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 3.3 10.0

Other comprehensive income for the year 47.1 18.9

Total comprehensive income for the year (46.0) (268.6)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group (127.5) (144.0)
Non-controlling interests 81.5 (124.6)

 (46.0) (268.6)

The notes on pages 17 to 88 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended December 31, 2012
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Assets

(All figures in millions of CHF) Note Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Cash and balances with central banks 20 1,443.3 1,171.4
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 22 816.8 823.9
Due from other banks 23 3,467.2 2,256.4
Loans and advances to customers 24 10,475.0 9,884.3
Derivative financial instruments 27 563.6 538.1
Financial assets at fair value:
     Trading assets 28 1,390.2 854.5
     Designated at inception 29 381.4 367.2
Investment securities:
     Available-for-sale 30 3,297.8 3,984.3
     Held-to-maturity 32 1,103.8 1,108.5
Intangible assets 34 294.6 300.6
Property, plant and equipment 35 42.1 47.3
Deferred income tax assets  18 32.1 48.6
Other assets 36 581.8 194.2

Total assets  23,889.7 21,579.3

Of which assets to significant shareholders  0.4 0.4

Liabilities

Due to other banks 37 874.8 772.5
Due to customers 38 16,245.5 14,546.2
Derivative financial instruments 27 729.1 603.4
Financial liabilities designated at fair value  40 1,131.3 490.7
Subordinated loan 39 57.0  -
Other financial liabilities 41 2,938.1 3,356.5
Current income tax liabilities  2.1 11.4
Deferred income tax liabilities 18 40.3 37.6
Provisions 42 11.5 37.3
Other liabilities 43 432.4 316.3

Total liabilities  22,462.1 20,171.9

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 46 250.0 250.0
Reserves and retained earnings  364.4 415.9

  614.4 665.9

Non-controlling interests 47 813.2 741.5

Total shareholders’ equity  1,427.6 1,407.4

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  23,889.7 21,579.3

Of which liabilities to significant shareholders  57.6 44.0

The financial statements on pages 12 to 88 were approved for publication and for submission to the Shareholders’ 
Annual Meeting by the Board of Directors on April 25, 2013.

The notes on pages 17 to 88 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
at December 31, 2012
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   Reserve and  Non- 
  Share retained Sub- controlling  
(All figures in millions of CHF)  capital earnings Total interests Total

Balance at January 1, 2011 250.0 553.5 803.5 880.5 1,684.0

(Loss) for the year  (154.7) (154.7) (132.8) (287.5)
Other comprehensive income for the year  10.7 10.7 8.2 18.9

Total comprehensive income for the year recognised in equity  (144.0) (144.0) (124.6) (268.6)

Dividends distributed by subsidiaries attributable 
to non controlling interest  - - (6.2) (6.2)
Dividends paid on Bons de Participation  (9.3) (9.3) (7.9) (17.2)
Sales of treasury shares of a quoted subsidiary  0.3 0.3 0.2 0.5
Net changes in Group’s holdings in subsidiaries  (0.4) (0.4) (0.2) (0.6)
Employee equity incentive plans  8.4 8.4 7.1 15.5
Net movement attibutable to non-controlling interests  7.4 7.4 (7.4) -

Balance at December 31, 2011 250.0 415.9 665.9 741.5 1,407.4

Balance at January 1, 2012 250.0 415.9 665.9 741.5 1,407.4

(Loss)/Profit for the year  (154.2) (154.2) 61.1 (93.1)
Other comprehensive income for the year  26.7 26.7 20.4 47.1

Total comprehensive income for the year recognised in equity  (127.5) (127.5) 81.5 (46.0)

Dividends distributed by subsidiaries attributable 
to non-controlling interests  (0.3) (0.3) (5.8) (6.1)
Dividends paid on Bons de Participation  (5.3) (5.3) (4.1) (9.4)
Partial disposal of subsidiary  30.1 30.1 90.5 120.6
Net changes in Group’s holdings in subsidiaries  (19.9) (19.9) 20.9 1.0
Employee equity incentive plans  6.8 6.8 5.2 12.0
Repurchase of Bons de participation  64.6 64.6 (116.5) (51.9)

Balance at December 31, 2012 250.0 364.4 614.4 813.2 1,427.6

The notes on pages 17 to 88 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended December 31, 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended December 31, 2012

The notes on pages 17 to 88 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(All figures in millions of CHF) Note 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received  412.9  396.6
Interest paid  (196.2)  (196.8)
Banking fee and commission received  600.6  544.2
Banking fee and commission paid  (134.8)  (103.8)
Dividend received  24.3  19.3
Net trading income received  75.6  68.9
Other operating receipts  5.5  1.0
Staff costs paid  (494.1)  (439.8)
Other operating expenses paid  (180.9)  (153.3)
Income tax paid  (9.2)  (0.5)

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating 
assets and liabilities  103.7  135.8

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net decrease in treasury bills  122.1  828.8
Net (increase) in due from other banks  (55.4)  (7.3)
Net decrease / (increase) in derivative financial instruments  96.0  (214.1)
Net (increase) in loans and advances to customers  (788.2)  (679.0)
Net (increase) in other assets  (361.1)  (20.1)
Net increase in due to other banks  98.7  434.0
Net increase / (decrease) in due to customers  1,736.7  (467.5)
Net increase in other liabilities  98.2  52.6

Net cash flows from operating activities  1,050.7  63.2

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of business, net of cash disposed  0.7  0.1
Purchase of securities  (9,799.9)  (9,650.3)
Proceeds from sale of securities  9,968.9  9,092.1
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (7.5)  (9.2)
Purchase of intangible assets  (15.3)  (10.3)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  0.3  0.2

Net cash flows used in investing activities  147.2  (577.4)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid   (15.5)  (23.4)
Net proceeds from sale of treasury shares of quoted subsidiary  1.0  0.5
Partial disposal of subsidiary  128.7  -
Issuance of structured products  10,077.1  7,810.7
Redemption of structured products  (9,802.6)  (7,344.7)

Net cash flows from financing activities  388.7  443.1

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (40.6)  (12.8)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  1,546.0  (84.6)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  2,953.5  3,038.1
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  1,546.0  (84.6)

Cash and cash equivalents 21 4,499.5  2,953.5
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1. General information

The main activities of EFG Bank European 
Financial	 Group	 SA,	 Geneva,	 Switzerland,	
and its subsidiaries (the “EFG Group” or the 
“Group”) are global private banking and related 
financial services. The Group services the vast 
majority of its worldwide clientele through 
EFG International AG and its subsidiaries 
(“EFG International”) a global private banking 
group	 headquartered	 in	 Switzerland	 and	 listed	
on SIX Swiss Exchange. EFG InternationaI’s 
principal	 places	 of	 business	 are	 in	 Switzerland,	
the Bahamas, Cayman Islands, Channel Islands, 
Hong Kong, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, 
Monaco, Singapore, Spain, Taiwan, the United 
Kingdom and the United States of America.

The number of employees of the EFG Group at 
year end was 2,270 (2011: 2,563).

As at December 31, 2012, the Company’s 
registered office is 24, quai du Seujet, 1201 
Geneva.

EFG Group since 1997

Prior to the Group corporate restructuring 
that occurred in August 2009, whereby a new 
holding company, European Financial Group 
EFG (Luxembourg) SA, became the new 
operating parent company of the EFG Group, 
EFG Bank European Financial Group SA was 
the ultimate parent company of the EFG Group. 
Since 1997, it has been subject to consolidated 
regulatory supervision by the Swiss Financial 
Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) 
and since 2001 has prepared and published 
consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union.

From August 2009 until July 2012, EFG Bank 
European Financial Group SA, has been 
exempted to publish consolidated accounts at 
its level on the basis that they were published at 
its new parent company level in Luxembourg. 
During that period, the ultimate consolidated 
supervision was exercised by the Bank of Greece 

due to the fact that the vast majority of the 
Group consisted of EFG Eurobank Ergasias 
SA (“Eurobank”), a retail and wholesale bank 
incorporated in Greece, and its subsidiaries.

On July 23, 2012, the EFG Group disposed of 
its controlling investment in Eurobank, which 
was therefore deconsolidated and consolidated 
regulatory supervision by the Bank of Greece 
ceased. The ultimate consolidated supervision 
of the EFG Group is now again at the level of 
EFG Bank European Financial Group SA and is 
exercised by the Swiss FINMA.

From the year ended December 31, 2012 
onward, the preparation and publication of the 
EFG Group consolidated accounts under IFRS at 
the level of EFG Bank European Financial Group 
SA are therefore resumed.

2. Principal accounting policies

The Group applies IFRS retrospectively in 
accordance with IAS 8 Accounting policies, 
changes in estimates and errors.

The Group did not present consolidated financial 
statements for the reasons explained above 
for the financial years 2009 to 2011. However 
the group prepared IFRS financial statements 
for periods prior to 2008 and as such does 
not apply IFRS 1 for first time adopters. 2012 
financial statements have been prepared as if the 
Group had never stopped presenting financial 
statements under IFRS - all major transaction 
in the period from 2009 to 2011 have been 
accounted for as required under IFRS.

In respect of opening balances from January 1, 
2011, reference is made to EFG International’s 
Annual Report (www.efginternational.com).

The principal accounting policies applied in 
the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(a) Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements are 
for the year ended December 31, 2012. They 
have been prepared in accordance with those 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting 
Standards Interpretations Committee (“IFRS 
Interpretations Committee”) interpretations 
issued and effective or issued and early adopted 
as at the time of preparing these financial 
statements. These consolidated financial 
statements are subject to the approval of the 
shareholders.

The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared under the historical cost convention 
as modified by the revaluation of available-
for-sale financial assets and of financial assets 
and financial liabilities (including derivative 
instruments) at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Although these estimates 
are based on management’s best knowledge 
of current events and actions, actual results 
ultimately may differ from those estimates. 
Further information about critical estimates is 
presented in notes 3 and 34.

The Group’s presentation currency is the Swiss 
franc (“CHF”) being the functional currency of 
the parent company and of its major operating 
subsidiary, EFG International.

In the current year, the Group considered 
all of the new and revised standards and 
interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
IFRS Interpretations Committee effective for 
accounting periods beginning on January 1, 
2013. These are as follows:

New and amended standards adopted by the 
Group:

There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that 
are effective for the first time for the financial 
year beginning on or after January 1, 2012 that 
would be expected to have a material impact on 
the Group.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to 
existing standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been early adopted by the Group:

The following standards and amendments to 
existing standards have been published and are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013 or later 
periods, but the Group has not early adopted 
them:

− Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Financial statement 
presentation’ regarding Other Comprehensive 
Income
The main change resulting from these 
amendments is a requirement for entities to 
group items presented in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) on the basis 
of whether they are potentially reclassifiable 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The 
amendments do not address which items are 
presented in OCI.
The Group will apply this amendment for 
the financial reporting period commencing 
on January 1, 2013. It is not expected to have 
a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

− Amendment to IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’
These amendments eliminate the corridor 
approach and calculate finance costs on a net 
funding basis i.e. an immediate recognition 
of all past service costs, the replacement of 
interest cost and expected return on plan assets 
with a net interest amount that is calculated by 
applying the discount rate to the net defined 
benefit liability (asset). The Group will apply this 
amendment for the financial reporting period 
commencing on January 1, 2013. The estimated 
impact of this amendment will be to reduce 
equity as of January 1, 2013 by approximately 
CHF 28.1 million, related to recognising the 
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actuarial loss of CHF 33.4 million (see note 
45), net of the deferred tax liability of CHF 5.3 
million.

− IAS 28 (revised 2011), ‘Associates and joint 
ventures’ includes the requirements for joint 
ventures, as well as associates, to be equity 
accounted following the issue of IFRS 11.
The Group will apply this amendment for the 
financial reporting period commencing on 
January 1, 2013. It is not expected to have any 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

− IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, (effective 
January 1, 2015) addresses the classification, 
measurement and recognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was 
issued in November 2009 and October 2010. 
It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to 
the classification and measurement of financial 
instruments.
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified 
into two measurement categories: those 
measured at fair value and those measured at 
amortised cost. The determination is made at 
initial recognition. The classification depends 
on the entity’s business model for managing 
its financial instruments and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For 
financial liabilities, the standard retains most 
of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change 
is that, in cases where the fair value option is 
taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair 
value change due to an entity’s own credit risk 
is recorded in Other Comprehensive Income 
rather than in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, unless this creates an accounting 
mismatch.
On December 16, 2011, the IASB deferred 
the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 to 
1 January 2015.
The amendments also provide relief from 
restating comparative information and require 
disclosures (in IFRS 7) to enable users of 
financial statements to understand the effect 
of beginning to apply IFRS 9. The Group is 
yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact. However, 
initial indications are that it may affect the 
Group’s accounting for its debt available-for-
sale financial assets, as IFRS 9 only permits 
the recognition of fair value gains and losses in 

Other Comprehensive Income if they relate to 
equity investments that are not held for trading. 
Fair value gains and losses on available-for-sale 
debt investments, for example, will therefore 
have to be recognised directly in profit or loss. 
The classification of Life insurance policies in the 
held-to-maturity portfolio will cease, entailing a 
decrease of CHF 205.6 million in Shareholders 
equity Retained earnings. The Group will also 
consider the impact of the remaining phases of 
IFRS 9 when completed by the Board.

− IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’
The objective of IFRS 10 is to establish 
principles for the presentation and preparation 
of consolidated financial statements when an 
entity controls one or more other entities to 
present consolidated financial statements. It also 
defines the principle of control, and establishes 
controls as the basis for consolidation. The 
Standard details how to apply the principle of 
control to identify whether an investor controls 
an investee and therefore must consolidate 
the investee and sets out the accounting 
requirements for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements.
The Group will apply this new standard for 
the financial reporting period commencing 
on January 1, 2013. It is not expected to have 
a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

− IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’ focuses on the 
rights and obligations of the joint arrangement 
rather than its legal form. There are two types 
of joint arrangements: joint operations and joint 
ventures. Joint operations arise where a joint 
operator has rights to the assets and obligations 
relating to the arrangement and hence accounts 
for its interest in assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses. Joint ventures arise where the 
joint operator has rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement and hence equity accounts 
for its interest. Proportional consolidation of 
joint ventures is no longer allowed. The Group 
will apply this new standard for the financial 
reporting period commencing on January 1, 
2013. It is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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− IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other 
entities’ includes the disclosure requirements for 
all forms of interests in other entities, including 
joint arrangements, associates, special purpose 
vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles.
The Group will apply this new standard for 
the financial reporting period commencing 
on January 1, 2013. It is not expected to have 
a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements apart from a disclosure stand point.

− IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ aims to 
improve consistency and reduce complexity by 
providing a precise definition of fair value and 
a single source of fair value measurement and 
disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. 
The requirements do not extend the use of fair 
value accounting but provide guidance on how 
it should be applied where its use is already 
required or permitted by other standards within 
IFRS. The Group will apply this standard for 
the financial reporting period commencing 
on January 1, 2013. It is not expected to have 
a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements apart from a disclosure stand point.

(b) Consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiary undertakings are all entities over 
which the Group, directly or indirectly, has the 
power to exercise control over their financial 
and operating policies, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one half of the voting 
rights. The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Group controls another entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group 
and are no longer consolidated from the date on 
which that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used 
to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries 
by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the assets acquired, 
equity instruments issued or exchanged and 
liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition. 
Cost related to the acquisition are expensed 
as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in 
a business combination are measured initially 
at their fair value at the acquisition date 
irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling 
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition 
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets of 
the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill. 
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair 
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in the 
Statement of Income.

Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated but considered an impairment 
indicator of the asset transferred. Where 
necessary accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.

A listing of the Group’s principal subsidiaries is 
set out in note 33.

(ii)  Non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests as transactions with equity 
owners of the group. For purchases from non-
controlling interests, the difference between 
any consideration paid and the relevant share 
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses 
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also 
recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any 
retained interest in the equity is re-measured at 
its fair value, with any changes in the carrying 
amount recognised in the Statement of Income.

The fair value is the initial carrying amount for 
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the 
retained interest as an associate, joint venture 
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income in respect of that entity are accounted 
for as if the Group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean 
that amounts previously recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income are reclassified to the 
Statement of Income. If the ownership interest 
in an associate is reduced but significant 
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influence is retained, only a proportionate share 
of the amounts previously recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income is reclassified to the 
Statement of Income where appropriate.

(iii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the 
Group has significant influence but not control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for by 
the equity method of accounting and are initially 
recognised at cost. The Group’s investment 
in associates includes goodwill (net of any 
accumulated impairment loss) identified on 
acquisition.

(c) Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each 
of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in CHF which is the Group’s 
presentation currency, as the functional currency 
of the Parent Company and its major operating 
subsidiary, EFG International. Assets and 
liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated 
using the closing exchange rate and Statement 
of Income items at the average exchange rate 
for the period reported. All resulting exchange 
differences are recognised as a separate 
component of equity (currency translation 
adjustment) reflected in other reserves.

Exchange differences arising from the 
retranslation of the net investment in foreign 
subsidiaries are taken to shareholders’ equity 
until disposal of the net investments and then 
released to the Statement of Income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate.

Year-end exchange rates and average exchange 
rates for translation of foreign denominated 
subsidiaries for the main currencies are as 
follows:

2012
Closing rate

2012
Average rate

2011
Closing rate

2011
Average rate

USD 0.915 0.938 0.940 0.887
GBP 1.481 1.486 1.451 1.422
EUR 1.208 1.205 1.216 1.233

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities 
denominated in foreign currency classified 
as available-for-sale are analysed between 
translation differences resulting from changes 
in the amortised cost of the security, and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the security. 
Translation differences related to changes in 
amortised cost are recognised in the Statement of 
Income, and other changes in carrying amount 
are recognised as Other Comprehensive Income.

(d) Derivative financial instruments and 
hedging

Derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognised in the balance sheet at fair value 
on the date on which a derivative contract is 
enacted and are subsequently re-measured at 
their fair value. Fair values are obtained from 
quoted market prices, including recent market 
transactions, discounted cash flow models and 
options pricing models, as appropriate. All 
derivatives are carried as assets when fair value 
is positive and as liabilities when fair value is 
negative.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative 
at initial recognition is the transaction price 
(i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or 
received) unless the fair value of that instrument 
is derived from its comparison with other 
observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument (i.e. without modification or 
repackaging) or based on a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from 
observable markets.
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Certain derivatives, embedded in other financial 
instruments, such as the option in a structured 
product, are treated as separate derivatives when 
their risks and characteristics are not closely 
related to those of the host contract and the host 
contract is not carried at fair-value-through-
profit-or-loss. These embedded derivatives are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in the Statement of Income, unless the 
Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts 
at fair-value-through-profit-or-loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair 
value gain or loss depends on whether the 
derivative is designated and qualifies as a 
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the 
item being hedged. The Group designates certain 
derivatives as either:

1) Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets 
or liabilities or unrecognised firm commitments 
(fair value hedge)

2) Hedges of highly probable future cash flow 
attributable to a recognised asset or liability, or a 
forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge)

3) Hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
operation (net investment hedge)

Hedge accounting is used for derivatives 
designated as such, provided certain criteria are 
met.

The Group documents, at the inception of the 
transaction, the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its 
risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. The 
Group also documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of 
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged 
items.

(i) Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 
recorded in the Statement of Income, together 
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged 
asset or liability that are attributable to the 
hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, the adjustment to the 
carrying amount of a hedged item for which the 
effective interest method is used is amortised 
to the Statement of Income over the period to 
maturity. The adjustment to the carrying amount 
of a hedged equity security remains in retained 
earnings, until the disposal of the equity security.

(ii) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair 
value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised as 
Other Comprehensive Income. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Income.

Amounts accumulated as Other Comprehensive 
Income are recycled to the Statement of Income 
in the periods in which the hedged item will 
affect profit or loss (for example, when the 
forecast transaction that is hedged takes place).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in equity at that time remains in equity 
and is recognised when the forecast transaction 
is ultimately recognised in the Statement of 
Income.

When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss 
that was reported in equity is immediately 
transferred to the Statement of Income.

(iii) Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations 
are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. 
Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
relating to the effective portion of the hedge is 
recognised as Other Comprehensive Income; the 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in the Statement of 
Income. Gains and losses accumulated as Other 
Comprehensive Income are included in the 
Statement of Income when the foreign operation 
is disposed of.
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(iv) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for 
hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of 
any derivative instrument that does not qualify 
for hedge accounting are recognised immediately 
in the Statement of Income.

The fair values of derivative instruments held for 
trading and hedging purposes are disclosed in 
note 27.

(e) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the 
net amount reported in the balance sheet when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

(f) Statement of Income

(i) Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expenses are recognised in 
the Statement of Income for all interest bearing 
instruments on an accruals basis, using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. When calculating the effective interest 
rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering 
all contractual terms of the financial instrument 
but does not consider future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or 
received between parties to the contract that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs, and all other premiums or 
discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar 
financial assets has been written down as a 
result of an impairment loss, interest income 
is recognised using the rate of interest used to 
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss.

ii) Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are generally recognised 
on an accruals basis. Fees and commissions 
relating to foreign exchange transactions, bank 
charges, brokerage activities and portfolio 
management are recognised, as applicable, 
on either a time-apportioned basis, at the 
transaction date or on the completion of the 
underlying transactions.

Fees and commission arising from negotiating 
a	 transaction	 for	 a	 third	 party	 –	 such	 as	 the	
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or 
other securities, are recognised on completion 
of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and 
other management advisory and service fees are 
recognised based on the applicable contracts, 
usually on a time-apportioned basis. Asset 
management fees related to investment funds are 
recognised over the period in which the service 
is provided. The same principle is applied for 
wealth management, financial planning and 
custody services that are continuously provided 
over an extended period of time. Performance 
linked fees or fee components are recognised 
when the performance criteria are fulfilled.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are periodically 
reviewed for impairment, with any impairment 
charge being recognised immediately in the 
Statement of Income.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line 
method to write down the cost of property, plant 
and equipment, to their residual values over their 
estimated useful life as follows:

- Leasehold improvements: 5-20 years

- Computer hardware: 3-5 years

- Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles: 
3-10 years
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Gains and losses on disposals of property 
and equipment are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are 
included in other operating expenses in the 
Statement of Income.

(h) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the net identifiable assets of the 
acquired undertaking at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries 
is reported under ‘Intangible assets’, while 
goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included 
in ‘Investments in associates’. The carrying 
amount of goodwill is reviewed at least annually. 
Where evidence of impairment exists, the 
carrying amount of goodwill is re-assessed and 
written down to recoverable amount (whereby 
recoverable amount is defined as the higher of 
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use).

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for 
the purpose of impairment testing (note 34.3). 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity 
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating 
to the entity sold.

(ii) Other intangible assets - Client Relationships

They are stated at estimated costs less 
accumulated amortisation calculated on a 4 to 
25 year basis.

(iii) Other intangible assets - Trademarks

They are stated at estimated costs less 
accumulated amortisation calculated on a 10 to 
14 year basis.

(iv) Other intangible assets - Non-compete 
agreement

They are stated at estimated costs less 
accumulated amortisation calculated on a 3 
to 10 year basis (depending on contractual 
agreements).

(v) Other intangible assets - Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. They are periodically reviewed for 
impairment, with any impairment charge 
being recognised in the Statement of Income. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method over a 3-5 year basis. The acquisition 
cost of software capitalised is on the basis of the 
cost to acquire and bring into use the specific 
software.

(i) Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets are recorded on the day the 
transaction is undertaken, with the exception 
of deposits and loans, which are entered in the 
balance sheet on their respective value dates.

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair 
value, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale 
are recognised on trade-date, which is the date 
on which the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. Loans are recognised when cash is 
advanced to the borrowers. Financial assets are 
initially recognised at fair value, plus transaction 
costs for all financial assets not carried at 
fair value through the Statement of Income. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or when the Group has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial 
assets at fair value are subsequently carried at 
fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity investments are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of the financial assets at fair 
value are included in the Statement of Income 
in the period in which they arise. Gains and 
losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
available-for-sale financial assets are recognised 
directly as Other Comprehensive Income, until 
the financial asset is derecognised or impaired. 
At this time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised as Other Comprehensive 
Income is recognised in the Statement of Income. 
Interest calculated using the effective interest 
method, is recognised in the Statement of 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)



Annual Report 2012

25

Income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity 
instruments are recognised in the Statement 
of Income when the entity’s right to receive 
payment is established.

The fair value of quoted investments in active 
markets is based on current bid prices. If there 
is no active market for financial assets, the 
Group establishes fair value using valuation 
techniques. These include the use of recent 
arm’s length transactions, discounted cash 
flow analysis, option pricing models and other 
valuation techniques commonly used by market 
participants.

Life insurance policies are included as financial 
assets at fair value, available-for-sale and held-
to-maturity. The Group uses a discounted cash 
flow valuation technique using non-market 
observable inputs, which incorporates actuarially 
based assumptions on life expectancy to value 
life insurance policies.

Life insurance policies that are classified as 
held-to-maturity generate a return based on 
an effective Internal Rate of Return, included 
in Interest income and which increase the 
carrying value on the balance sheet. For 
policies transferred from available-for-sale, 
any available-for-sale equity reserve at the date 
transferred is amortised into the Statement of 
Income over the estimated remaining life of the 
life insurance policies.

If objective evidence exists that a held-to-
maturity investment is impaired, the impairment 
loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying value and the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
using the original effective interest rate of the 
financial asset. The carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced accordingly and the loss is recognised 
in the Statement of Income. Premiums paid are 
recognised as part of the cost of the investment 
and increase the carrying value on the balance 
sheet.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the 
following categories: at fair value; loans and 
receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and 

available-for-sale financial assets. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at 
initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value

This category has two sub-categories: financial 
assets held-for-trading, and those designated at 
fair value at inception.

A financial asset is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the short term, or if so designated by 
management. Derivatives are also categorised 
as held-for-trading unless they are designated as 
hedging instruments.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market, other than those that the Group upon 
initial recognition designates as at fair value, or 
those that the Group upon initial recognition 
designates as available-for-sale. Assets classified 
as loans and receivables arise when the Group 
provides money, goods or services directly to a 
debtor.

(iii) Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale investments are those intended 
to be held for an indefinite period of time, which 
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity 
or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or 
equity prices.

(iv) Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s 
management has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to 
sell other than an insignificant amount of held-
to-maturity assets, the entire category would be 
tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale.

(v) Financial liabilities at fair value

A financial liability is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of 
buying in the short term, or if so designated 
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by management as a hedge for an asset, or 
as a hedge for the derivative component of a 
structured product.

(j) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet 
date whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and 
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. Objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of assets is impaired includes 
observable data that come to the attention of the 
Group about the following loss events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or 
obligor

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments

c) the Group granting to the borrower, for 
economic or legal reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, a concession 
that the lender would not otherwise consider

d) it becomes probable that the borrower 
will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation

e) the disappearance of an active market for 
that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties; or

f) observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from a group of financial assets 
since the initial recognition of those assets, 
although the decrease cannot yet be identified 
within the individual financial assets in the 
Group, including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of 
borrowers in the Group; or

- national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on the assets in the 
Group.

(i) Available-for-sale assets

The Group determines that available-for-sale 
investments are potentially impaired for:

- Equity investments when there has been 
a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the investments below their 
cost. In determining what is significant or 
prolonged, the Group’s management exercises 
judgment. The Group evaluates among other 
factors, the normal volatility in valuation. 
In addition, impairment may be appropriate 
when there is evidence of deterioration in the 
financial health of the investee, industry and 
sector performance, changes in technology, 
and operational and financing cash flows.

- Debt investments when indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default 
or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, 
and where observable data indicate that there 
is a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears 
or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.

In the case of equity investments classified as 
available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of the security below 
its cost is considered in determining whether 
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence 
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 
cumulative	 loss	 –	 measured	 as	 the	 difference	
between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial 
asset previously recognised in the Statement of 
Income	–	is	removed	from	Other	Comprehensive	
Income and recognised in the Statement of 
Income. Reversals of impairment losses for 
equity instruments classified as available-for-
sale are not recognised in the Statement of 
Income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value 
of a debt instrument classified as available-
for-sale increases and the increase can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the 
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impairment loss was recognised in the Statement 
of Income, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the Statement of Income.

(ii) Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment 
loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity 
investments carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement 
of Income. If a loan or held-to-maturity 
investment has a variable interest rate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss 
is the current effective interest rate determined 
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the 
Group may measure impairment on the basis of 
an instrument’s fair value using an observable 
market price. The calculation of the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows of a 
collateralised financial asset reflects the cash 
flows that may result from foreclosure less costs 
for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether 
or not foreclosure is probable.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the related provision for loan 
impairment. Such loans are written off after all 
the necessary procedures have been completed 
and the amount of the loss has been determined. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off decrease the amount of the provision 
for loan impairment in the Statement of Income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
by adjusting the allowance account. The amount 
of the reversal is recognised in the Statement of 
Income.

(k) Debt securities in issue

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair 
value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of 
consideration received) net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost; any difference between proceeds 
net of transaction costs and the redemption 
value is recognised in the Statement of Income 
over the life of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method. If the Group purchases its own 
debt, it is removed from the balance sheet, and 
the difference between the carrying amount 
of the liability and the consideration paid is 
included in gains less losses from other securities.

(l) Leases

The leases entered into by the Group are 
operating leases. The total payments made under 
operating leases are charged to the Statement of 
Income on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease.

(m) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided, using the 
liability method, on all temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying values for financial 
reporting purposes. The expected effective tax 
rates are used to determine deferred income 
tax. The principal temporary differences arise 
from goodwill depreciation, property, plant 
and equipment depreciation, pension and other 
retirement benefits obligations, and revaluation 
of certain financial assets and liabilities, 
including derivative instruments.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that they will crystallise 
in the future. Deferred tax relating to changes 
in fair values of available-for-sale investments, 
which is taken directly as Other Comprehensive 
income, is charged or credited directly as Other 
Comprehensive Income and is subsequently 
recognised in the Statement of Income together 
with the deferred gain or loss.

Income tax payable on profits, based on the 
applicable tax law in each jurisdiction, is 
recognised as an expense in the period in which 
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profits arise. The tax effects of income tax losses 
available for carry forward are recognised as 
an asset when it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which these 
losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented 
on a gross basis.

(n) Employee benefits

(i) Pension obligation

The Group operates various pension schemes 
which are either defined contribution or defined 
benefit plans, depending on prevailing practice in 
each country.

For defined contribution plans, the Group 
pays contributions to publicly or privately 
administered pension plans and has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have 
been paid. The contributions are recognised as 
employee benefit expense when they are due. 
This applies to most of the locations where 
the Group operates except principally for 
Switzerland.

In	 Switzerland,	 the	 Group	 maintains	 several	
pension plans which are classified as defined 
contribution or defined benefit plans 
according to Swiss pension law. The Group’s 
legal obligation, in respect of these plans, is 
merely to pay contributions at defined rates 
(defined contribution). However, these plans 
incorporate certain guarantees of minimum 
interest accumulation and conversion of capital 
to pension. As a result, these plans have been 
reported as defined benefit pension plans.

Pension cost and liability has been measured 
using the projected unit credit actuarial cost 
method and assumptions established as defined 
in IAS19. The calculations have been carried 
out by independent actuaries at the applicable 
reporting dates.

The	 pension	 expenses	 recognized	 in	 the	
Statement of Income for these plans considered 
as defined benefits for IAS 19 purposes is the 
actuarially determined expense less the amount 
of employee contributions.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as 
income or expense when the net cumulative 
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses for 
each individual plan at the end of the previous 
reporting year exceeded 10% of the higher of 
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value 
of plan assets at that date. These gains and 
losses are recognised over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees 
participating in the plans.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

The Group recognises short-term compensated 
absences as a liability.

(iii) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the 
grant of the options or restricted stock units is 
recognised as an expense over the vesting period 
for options or restricted stock units granted 
under the plan.

The total amount to be expensed over the 
vesting period is determined by reference to the 
fair value of the options or restricted stock units 
granted, excluding the impact of any non-market 
vesting conditions (for example, profitability and 
revenue growth targets). Non-market vesting 
conditions are included in assumptions about 
the number of options and restricted stock units 
that are expected to become exercisable. The 
expense recognised during each period is the 
pro-rata amount of the fair value of options 
expected to become exercisable plus the impact 
of the revision of original estimates, if any, which 
is recognised in the Statement of Income, and 
a corresponding adjustment to equity over the 
remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to the 
share capital (nominal value) and share premium 
when the options are exercised.

(o) Related party transactions

Related parties include associates, fellow 
subsidiaries, directors, their close families, 
companies owned or controlled by them and 
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companies whose financial and operating 
policies they can influence. Transactions of 
similar nature are disclosed on an aggregate 
basis.

(p) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

a) The Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events;

b) It is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation; 
and

c) Reliable estimates of the amount of the 
obligation can be made.

Restructuring provisions comprise lease 
termination penalties and employee termination 
payments. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required 
in settlement is determined by considering the 
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow 
with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small.

(q) Dividend distributions

Dividend distribution on ordinary shares is 
recognised as a deduction in the Group’s equity 
when approved by the corresponding company’s 
shareholders.

(r) Treasury shares of quoted subsidiaries

Where the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, 
purchases shares in the quoted share capital of 
any company in the Group, or obtains rights 
to do so, the consideration paid, including 
any directly attributable incremental costs 
(net of income taxes), is deducted from total 
shareholders’ equity until the shares are 
cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where 
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, 
any consideration received is included in 
shareholders’ equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares from Group’s quoted 
subsidiaries are shown in equity as a deduction 
from the proceeds, net of tax.

(s) Fiduciary activities

Where the group acts in a fiduciary capacity, 
such as nominee, trustee or agent, assets and 
income arising on fiduciary activities, together 
with related undertakings to return such assets 
to customers, are excluded from the financial 
statements.

(t) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three 
months or less.

(u) Comparatives

Where necessary comparative figures have been 
adjusted to conform to changes in presentation 
in the current year.

3. Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements in applying 
accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies, the Group’s management 
makes various judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 recognized	 in	 the	
financial statements within the next financial 
year. Estimates and judgments are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

(a) Impairment of intangible assets

The Group tests at least annually whether 
goodwill has suffered impairment in accordance 
with the accounting policy stated in note 2 (h). 
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating 
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units are determined based on the maximum 
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell 
which is determined on the basis of the best 
information available on the amount that could 
be obtained from the disposal of the assets in 
an arm’s length transaction, after deduction of 
the costs to sell. The value in use is determined 
by using a discounted cash-flow calculation 
based on the operating cash-flows of the asset 
and its future sale after the utilisation period 
(not exceeding 5 years). An impairment is 
recorded when the carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount. Further information is 
presented in note 34.

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are 
not quoted in an active market are determined 
by using valuation techniques (4.2.1). Where 
valuation techniques (for example, models) are 
used to determine fair values, they are validated 
and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel 
independent of the personnel that created them. 
All models are validated before they are used, 
and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs 
reflect actual data and comparative market 
prices. To the extent practicable, models use only 
observable data, however areas such as credit 
risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities 
and correlations require management to make 
estimates. Changes in assumptions about these 
factors could affect the reported fair value of 
financial instruments.

(c) Financial assets at fair value - Life 
insurance policies

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on 
the valuation of unquoted designated at fair 
value life insurance policies (note 4.2.1). The 
Group uses a discounted cash flow valuation 
technique using non-market observable 
inputs, which incorporates actuarially based 
assumptions on life expectancy. See note 
4.2.4 for sensitivity analysis to changes in 
life expectancies on the valuation of the life 
insurance policies. By way of illustration, a 100 
basis point increase in the market yield (IRR) 
would result in a loss of CHF (29.4) million 
through the Statement of Income (2011: loss of 

CHF (1.1) million), and a 3 month increase in 
actual life expectancies would result in a loss 
of CHF (9.7) million (2011: loss of CHF (16.1) 
million).

(d) Available-for-sale – Life insurance 
policies

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on 
the valuation of unquoted available-for-sale life 
insurance policies. The Group uses a discounted 
cash flow valuation technique using non-market 
observable inputs, which incorporates actuarially 
based assumptions on life expectancy. See 
note 4.2.4 for sensitivity analysis to changes 
in life expectancies on the valuation of the life 
insurance policies. By way of illustration, a 100 
basis point increase in the market yield (IRR) 
would result in a loss of CHF (0.8) million 
through the Other Comprehensive Income 
(2011: loss of CHF (1.1) million), and a 3 month 
increase in actual life expectancies would result 
in a loss of CHF (1.2) million (2011: loss of 
CHF (2.1) million).

(e) Impairment of available-for-sale equity 
investments

The Group determines any impairment of 
available-for-sale investments through a two-
step process. The Group first performs a review 
at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is objective evidence that impairment exists 
for a financial asset. If such evidence exists, the 
Group measures and records the impairment 
loss in the reporting period. The Group 
determines that available-for-sale investments 
are potentially impaired when there has been 
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the investments below their cost. In 
determining what is significant or prolonged, 
the Group’s management exercises judgment. 
The Group evaluates among other factors, the 
normal volatility in valuation. In addition, 
impairment may be appropriate when there is 
evidence of deterioration in the financial health 
of the investee, industry and sector performance, 
changes in technology, and operational and 
financing cash flows.
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(f) Held-to-maturity investments – Life 
insurance policies

The Group concluded that it is appropriate to 
classify certain life insurances policies as held-
to-maturity for the reasons explained below 
and that theses financial assets fall within the 
definition of IAS 39 related to held-to-maturity 
classification:

- Non-derivative financial asset: Life insurance 
policies are not treated as derivatives and 
are akin to fixed income instruments. A 
derivative typically involves only a percentage 
of the notional exposure being paid for and 
a leverage effect. However, the full value of 
the life insurance policies was paid when they 
were acquired and no leverage effect exists,

- Fixed or determinable payments: Cash flows 
relating to life insurance policies are the 
premium payments required to keep policies 
in force and the death benefits receivable. The 
cash flow timing is determined by mortality 
assumptions derived from the standard 
mortality tables,

- Fixed maturity: No financial assets with 
indefinite lives can be classified as held-to-
maturity. The life insurance policies have a 
prefixed event that determines the maturity 
of the instrument (i.e. the death of the insured 
which is estimated based on actuarial data),

- Intention and ability to hold to maturity: the 
Group concluded on recognition in 2010 that 
it has the intention and the ability to hold 
these life insurance policies until maturity.

(g) Held-to-maturity investments - Others

The Group follows the IAS 39 guidance on 
classifying non-derivative financial assets, 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification 
requires significant judgment. The Group 
evaluates its intention and ability to hold such 
investments to maturity. If the Group fails 
to keep these investments to maturity, it will 
be required to reclassify the entire category 
as available-for-sale. The investments would 
therefore be measured at fair value, not 
amortised cost.

(h) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in 
various jurisdictions. Estimates are required 
in determining the worldwide provision for 
income taxes. There are many transactions 
and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business.

(i) Legal provisions

Provisions for litigation and legal claims are 
recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events; it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation; and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. The determination of whether an 
outflow is probable and the amount requires 
the judgement of the Group’s management, 
which are assessed by Group management in 
conjunction with the Group’s legal advisors.

4. Financial risk assessment 
and management

The Group’s activities are predominantly 
carried out on its clients’ behalf, with the clients 
carrying the risk. As such, the Group takes 
limited credit risk, market risk and liquidity 
risk. Most credit risk is limited to interbank 
placements with rated financial institutions and 
sovereign bodies, mortgages, lombard loans 
and other secured loans as well as credit risk 
associated with its holding of life insurance 
policies. Market risk is largely restricted to 
limited foreign exchange and interest rate 
gapping positions maintained by the Group 
along with market risk resulting from the 
Group’s subsidiary EFG Financial Products AG.

At EFG International level, where the vast 
majority of the risks of the Group lie, ultimate 
responsibility for the supervision of risk 
management lies with EFG International’s 
Board of Directors, which has delegated certain 
functions to its Risk Committee, which sets risk 
policies and risk appetite. Implementation of the 
group’s policies and compliance with procedures 
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is the responsibility of EFG International’s 
Executive Committee and its sub-committees 
for market risk and credit risk. At EFG Bank 
European Financial Group SA (“the Bank”) 
level, the Board of Directors supervises the 
Bank’s risks managed by the Management 
and proceeds annually with an assessment 
of the Bank’s risks. In addition, it monitors 
EFG International’s risk via attendance of 
EFG International’s Risk Committee by a Board 
member and Executives of the Bank and through 
the quarterly risk assessment report issued by 
EFG International’s Chief Risk Officer.

The main risks to which the Group is exposed 
are the credit, market, liquidity and operational 
risks as detailed below. Its monitoring of credit 
risk is based on the ratings diversification 
and evolution; its monitoring of market risk 
is based on the average positions of last year 
and on the calculation of VaR (including stress 
scenario analysis); its monitoring of operational 
risk is based on the monitoring of operational 
losses, events that may potentially lead to an 
operational loss and operational issues. In 
addition, the Group has taken into account 
in its analysis the risk mitigation measures 
and the internal control framework (including 
the internal procedures). Attention is given 
to the guarantee of a constant monitoring 
and evaluation of the risk, as well as the 
measurement of the potential impact of these 
risks on the financial statements.

4.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that 
a financial loss will occur as a result of a 
borrower’s or counterparty’s deteriorating 
creditworthiness and/or inability to meet 
its financial obligations. The Group’s credit 
risk exposure is comparatively low because 
it’s primary credit exposures relate to loans 
collateralised by securities portfolios and by 
mortgages, or to rated financial institutions.

4.1.1 Credit risk management

a) Loans and advances

A basic feature of the credit approval process 
is a separation between the firm’s business 
origination and credit risk management 
activities. Credit requests are initiated by Client 

Relationship Officers, must be supported by 
Regional Business Heads and are thereafter 
analysed and submitted to the competent credit 
approval bodies and processed by the credit 
departments.

EFG International’s Executive Credit Committee 
has overall responsibility for EFG International’s 
client credit business, including the 
implementation of credit policies and procedures 
defined by the EFG International’s Board. 
Certain duties, including monitoring of day-
to-day operations, have been delegated to 
the various Credit Departments within the 
EFG International group under the supervision 
of the Credit Department of EFG Bank AG. The 
approval of loans, ceilings and other exposures 
has been delegated, based on certain defined 
risk	 and	 size	 criteria,	 to	 senior	members	 of	 the	
credit departments, certain credit committees 
of international units and to the Executive 
Credit Committee of EFG International. Credits 
granted by EFG Bank European Financial Group 
SA are under the approval responsibility of its 
own Credit Committee and Board as relevant.

Within the EFG International group, the 
approval of large and higher risk profile 
exposures	 is	 centralised	 in	 Switzerland,	 in	
compliance with local regulatory and legal 
requirements of the individual, international 
business units.

Management insists on thoroughly 
understanding the background and purpose of 
each loan (which is typically for investment in 
securities, funds or investment related insurance 
policies) as well as the risks of the underlying 
collateral of each loan.
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The Group’s internal rating system assigns each client credit exposure to one of ten rating categories. 
The rating assesses the borrower’s repayment ability and the value, quality, liquidity and diversification 
of the collateral securing the credit exposure. The credit policy and the nature of the loans ensure that 
the Group’s loan book is of high quality. Consequently, an overwhelming majority of the Group’s credit 
exposures are rated within the top 3 categories.

Group’s internal ratings scale and comparison to external ratings:

Group’s  
ratings Rating Description of grade

Moody’s 
rating

1 Top Secured by “cash collateral or equivalent” - good diversification Aaa
2 High High Secured by “cash collateral or equivalent” - imperfect diversification Aa
3 Very good Secured by “other collateral” A
4 Good Partly secured by “cash collateral or equivalent” Baa
5 Acceptable Unsecured but prime borrower Ba
6 Weak Borrower situation/collateral value is deteriorating B
7 Poor Conditions of initial credit are no longer being met Caa
8 Unacceptable Interest is no longer being paid - collateral is being held Ca
9 Potential loss Bank holds illiquid - uncollectible or no collateral C
10 Loss No collateral or uncollectible collateral C

The ratings of a major rating agency (shown in the table above) are mapped to the Group’s rating classes 
based on above internal definitions and on the long-term average default rates for each external grade. 
The Group uses the external ratings to benchmark its internal credit risk assessment.

b) Debt securities and other bills

For debt securities and other bills, external rating such as Moody’s rating or their equivalents, are used 
by the Group for managing the credit risk exposures.

4.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

To qualify as collateral for a margin loan, a client’s securities portfolio must generally be well 
diversified with differing margins applied depending on the type of risk profile and liquidity of the 
security. Additional margins are applied if the loan and the collateral are not in the same currency or 
diversification criteria are not fully met. Close to 80% of mortgages are booked in the UK subsidiary, 
EFG Private Bank Limited, and these mortgages are related predominantly to residential properties in 
prime London locations.

Credit departments monitor credit exposures against approved limits and pledged collateral. If necessary, 
they initiate rectification steps. Most collateral is valued daily (but may be valued more frequently during 
periods of high market volatility). However, structured notes, hedge funds and some other mutual funds 
are valued monthly, whereas insurance policies are valued at least annually. Mortgage valuations are 
reviewed annually and updated using statistical (indexation) methods.

Management of exposure to financial institutions is based on a system of counterparty limits coordinated 
at the Group level, subject to country limits. Limits for exposure to counterparties are granted based 
upon internal analyses. The limits are set and monitored by EFG International’s Risk Committee, with 
delegated	 authority	 up	 to	 certain	 absolute	 size	 to	 EFG	 International’s	Management	 Risk	 Committee;	
depending on each counterparty’s Fitch or Moody’s ratings (individual and support ratings) and 
on its total equity. At EFG Bank European Financial Group SA level, the limits are approved by its 
management Committee and Board of Directors as relevant. Limits are set within individual and 
consolidated regulatory limits.
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Other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.

a) Collateral

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these 
is the taking of security for credit exposures.

The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral for credit risk 
mitigation.

The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

- Mortgages over residential and commercial properties;

- Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

b) Derivatives

The Group maintains a strict monitoring of credit risk exposure induced by over-the-counter derivatives 
transactions vs. dedicated limits granted. Credit risk exposure considers the current credit risk exposure 
through the Mark-to-Market of the transactions and the potential future exposure through dedicated 
add-on factors applied to the notional of the transactions. While being ignored in the computation of 
credit risk, EFGI Business units have signed mitigating agreements with its most important financial 
institutions counterparties; collateral paid or received being taken into consideration.

c) Credit related commitments

Credit related commitments include the following:

- Guarantees and standby letters of credit - these carry the same credit risk as loans.

- Commitments to extend credit - these represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit 
in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. The Group is potentially exposed to loss in 
an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, commitments to extend credit are 
contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.

4.1.3. Exposure to credit risk

The following table compares a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group at 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, before and after collateral held or other credit enhancements. Equity 
related financial instruments are not included in the below analysis as they are not considered as subject 
to credit risk.
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Maximum exposure before 
collateral held or other 

credit enhancements

Exposure after collateral 
held or other credit 

enhancements
(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Cash and balances with central banks  1,443.3  1,171.4  1,443.3  1,171.4 
Treasury bills and other eligible bills  816.8  823.9  816.8  823.9 
Due from other banks  3,467.2  2,256.5  2,040.7  1,819.8 
Loans and advances to customers
   - Overdrafts, Lombard loans and term loans  7,691.6  7,600.9  93.2  377.1 
   - Mortgages  2,783.4  2,283.4  -  - 
Derivative financial instruments  563.6  538.1  463.6  389.8 
Financial assets at fair value:
-Trading Assets - Debt securities  334.0  154.6  334.0  154.6 
-Designated at inception - Debt securities  381.0  350.7  87.0  87.5 
Investment securities - Debt securities  4,373.8  5,059.5  4,373.8  5,059.5 
Other assets  581.8  197.2  581.8  197.2 

On-balance sheet assets  22,436.5  20,436.2  10,234.2 10,080.8

Financial guarantees  292.8  328.9  7.6  4.6 
Loan commitments, and other credit related guarantees  219.8  130.4  38.1  27.2 

Off-balance sheet assets  512.6  459.3  45.7  31.8 

Total  22,949.1  20,895.5  10,279.9 10,112.6

See note 26 Collateral for loans and advances to customers which shows that collateral comprised 99% 
(2011: 99.1%) of the total Mortgages are 100% secured.

Exposure after collateral held or other credit enhancements by ratings

(All figures in millions of CHF) Aaa - Aa A Baa - Ba  B - C Unrated  Total 

Cash and balances with central banks  1,443.3  -  -  -  -  1,443.3 
Treasury bills and other eligible bills  816.8  -  -  -  -  816.8 
Due from other banks  699.0  945.1  5.3  0.8  390.5  2,040.7 
Loans and advances to customers:
   - Overdrafts, Lombard loans and term loans  -  -  77.3  1.5  14.4  93.2 
   - Mortgages  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Derivative financial instruments  22.5  141.7  4.0  -  295.4  463.6 
Financial assets at fair value:
-Trading Assets - Debt securities  145.1  67.4  119.9  -  1.6  334.0 
-Designated at inception - Debt securities  29.4  31.4  26.2  -  -  87.0 
Investment securities - Debt securities  3,270.8  880.3  210.6  -  12.1  4,373.8 
Other assets  -  -  -  -  581.8  581.8 

Total on-balance sheet assets 2012  6,426.9  2,065.9  443.3  2.3  1,295.8  10,234.2 

Total on-balance sheet assets 2011  6,435.3  2,116.8  437.9  93.3  704.3  9,787.6 

Financial guarantees  -  -  -  -  7.6  7.6 
Loan commitments, and other credit related 
guarantees  -  -  -  -  38.1  38.1 

Total off-balance sheet assets 2012  -  -  -  -  45.7  45.7 

Total off-balance sheet assets 2011  -  -  -  -  31.8  31.8 



 EFG Group

36

Selected European credit risk exposures

As at December 31 the Group had credit exposure, based on balance sheet carrying values, to the 
following European countries:

Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF) Sovereign
Financial 

Institution Other Total

Spain 64.7 39.5  - 104.2
Greece  - 0.2 27.8 28.0
Portugal  - 20.0  - 20.0
Italy  12.5 1.2 0.1 13.8
Ireland  -  -  -  - 

Total 77.2 60.9 27.9 166.0

Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF) Sovereign
Financial 

Institution Other Total

Spain 240.3 24.8 2.1 267.2
Greece 22.2 66.9 27.4 116.5
Portugal  - 22.3  - 22.3
Italy 12.1 1.2 0.7 14.0
Ireland  -  -  -  - 

Total 274.6 115.2 30.2 420.0

The basis for the presentation of the country exposure, based on balance sheet carrying values, from 
banking counterparties or investment securities is the country of domicile of the legal entity that is our 
contractual counterparty. A debt security issued by a company domiciled in country A would be shown 
against country A, independent of the location of its primary business activity or the exchange on which 
the security is registered.

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

The Group manages the risk of concentration by monitoring and reviewing on a regular basis its large 
exposures.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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4.1.4 Loans and advances

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Loans and 
advances to 

customers
Due from 

other banks

Loans and 
advances to 

customers
Due from 

other banks

Neither past due nor impaired a)  10,420.6  3,467.2  9,854.8  2,256.4 
Past due but not impaired b)  54.4  -  29.5  - 
Impaired  10.3  -  8.4  - 

Gross  10,485.3  3,467.2  9,892.7  2,256.4 

Less: allowance for impairment  (10.3)  -  (8.4)  - 

Net  10,475.0  3,467.2  9,884.3  2,256.4 

The total impairment provision for loans and advances of CHF 10.3 million (2011: CHF 8.4 million) 
comprises specific provisions against individual loans. Note 25 relates to the impairment allowance for 
loans and advances to customers.

a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can 
be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group (refer to note 4.1.1 for 
definition of internal grades).

Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Overdrafts, 
Lombard and 

Term loans Mortgages Total

Grades
Grade 1 - 2  5,650.5  279.4  5,929.9 
Grade 3  1,829.5  2,063.9  3,893.4 
Grade 4 - 5  208.8  386.0  594.8 
Grade 6 - 7  1.0  -  1.0 
Grade 8  -  -  - 
Grade 9 - 10  1.5  -  1.5 

 7,691.3  2,729.3  10,420.6 
 

Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Overdrafts, 
Lombard and 

Term loans Mortgages Total

Grades
Grade 1 - 2  5,513.1  244.6  5,757.7 
Grade 3  1,591.1  1,641.0  3,232.1 
Grade 4 - 5  200.9  369.0  569.9 
Grade 6 - 7  295.1  -  295.1 
Grade 8  -  -  - 
Grade 9 - 10  -  -  - 

 7,600.2  2,254.6  9,854.8 
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b) Loans and advances past due, but not impaired

Loans and advances less than 180 days past due, are not considered impaired unless other information 
is available to indicate the contrary. The gross amount of loans and advances to customers by class that 
were past due but not impaired, were as follows:

Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Overdrafts, 
Lombard & 
Term loans Mortgages Total

Greater than 180 days, past due  0.3  50.5  50.8 
Less than 180 days, past due  -  3.6  3.6 

Total  0.3  54.1  54.4 

Fair value of collateral  1.9  80.2  82.1 

Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Overdrafts, 
Lombard & 
Term loans Mortgages Total

Greater than 180 days, past due  -  25.3  25.3 
Less than 180 days, past due  0.7  3.5  4.2 

Total  0.7  28.8  29.5 

Fair value of collateral  1.6  31.8  33.4 

4.1.5 Impairment and provisioning policies

The internal and external rating systems described in note 4.1.1 focus primarily on credit-quality 
mapping from the inception of the lending and investment activities. In contrast, impairment provisions 
are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that are expected at the balance sheet date 
based on objective evidence of impairment (see note 2 (j)).

All the impairment provisions come from the bottom grade. The table below shows the percentage of 
the Group’s on balance sheet items relating to loans and advances to customers, and the associated 
impairment provision for each of the Group’s internal grade descriptions:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Grade descriptions
Loans and 

advances (%)
Impairment 

provision (%)
Loans and 

advances (%)
Impairment 

provision (%)

Grade 1 - 2 56.6% 58.2%
Grade 3 37.1% 32.7%
Grade 4 - 5 5.7% 5.8%
Grade 6 - 7 0.5% 3.3%
Grade 8 0.0% 0.0%
Grade 9 - 10 0.1% 100.0% 0.1% 100.0%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists under IAS 39, based on criteria set out by the Group including delinquency in contractual 
payments of principal or interest, breach of loan covenants or conditions, initiation of bankruptcy 
proceedings, deterioration in the value of collateral and downgrading below investment grade level.
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4.1.6 Debt securities, treasury bills, other eligible bills and investment securities

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills, other eligible bills and investment 
securities by rating agency designation at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 based on internal 
ratings:

Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Treasury bills 
and other 

eligible bills
Trading 

Assets
Designated at 

inception

Investment 
securities

Available-for-
sale

Investment 
securities
Held-to-
maturity Total

Grade 1 - 2  816.8  145.1  146.1  2,823.6  447.2  4,378.8 
Grade 3  -  67.4  193.8  323.8  556.4  1,141.4 
Grade 4 - 5  -  119.9  39.8  113.0  97.7  370.4 
Unrated  -  1.6  1.3  9.6  2.5  15.0 

Total  816.8  334.0  381.0  3,270.0  1,103.8  5,905.6 

Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Treasury bills 
and other 

eligible bills
Trading 

Assets
Designated at 

inception

Investment 
securities

Available-for-
sale

Investment 
securities
Held-to-
maturity Total

Grade 1 - 2  823.9  16.6  109.6  3,248.1  459.7  4,657.9 
Grade 3  -  34.7  215.1  569.7  601.3  1,420.8 
Grade 4 - 5  -  93.4  15.0  123.6  47.4  279.4 
Unrated  -  9.9  11.0  9.7  -  30.6 

Total 823.9 154.6 350.7 3,951.1 1,108.4 6,388.7

4.2. Market risk

Market risk refers to fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates, share prices and commodity prices. 
Market risk derives from trading in treasury and investment market products which are priced daily as 
well as from more traditional banking business, such as loans.

The Group engages in trading of securities, derivatives, foreign exchange, money market papers, and 
commodities on behalf of its clients. This business is conducted primarily out of dealing rooms in 
Geneva, Zurich, Cayman, Hong Kong, London and Monaco. The Group does not engage in proprietary 
trading in securities other than its holding of fixed income securities and life insurance policies in its 
banking book and equities and commodities held as part of EFG Financial Products AG’s hedging 
activities. The Group maintains small proprietary positions in foreign exchange instruments.

Both interest rate and foreign exchange exposures are strictly limited by sensitivity, Value at Risk (VaR) 
and stress test limits. Foreign exchange is also subject to daily and 10 sliding days stop loss monitoring. 
Adherence to all limits is monitored independently by the internal Market Risk Control & Reporting 
Department.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business and the absence of any meaningful proprietary trading 
activities, the market risk resulting from trading positions is limited compared to overall market risk. 
The largest market risk exposures relate to credit spread related risk induced by bonds position holding 
for Asset & Liability management purposes while currency risk exposure is induced by the capital of our 
subsidiaries that are denominated in local currencies and the carrying value of life insurance policies.
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4.2.1 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

a) Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 amended requires classification of financial instruments at fair value using a fair value hierarchy 
that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as price) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).

Dec. 31, 2012
(All figures in millions of CHF)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  Total 

Derivative financial instruments (assets):
    Currency derivatives  33.60  66.3 -  99.9 
    Interest rate derivatives  0.4  74.6 -  75.0 
    Other derivatives -  330.5  4.6  335.1 
    Life insurance related -  -  53.6  53.6 

    Total derivatives assets  563.6 

Financial assets at fair value:
       Equity  1,056.2 - -  1,056.2 
       Debt  334.0 - -  334.0 

    Total trading assets  1,390.2 

   Designated at inception:
       Equity  0.4 - -  0.4 
       Debt  51.1 - -  51.1 
       Life Insurance related - -  329.9  329.9 

    Total financial assets designated at inception  381.4 

Investment securities: Available-for-sale
       Equity  1.2 -  26.6  27.8 
       Debt  2,896.2  329.0 -  3,225.2 
       Life Insurance related - -  44.8  44.8 

    Total investment securities available-for-sale  3,297.8 

Total assets measured at fair value  4,373.1  800.4  459.5  5,633.0  5,633.0 
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities):
    Currency derivatives  15.6  75.6 -  91.2 
    Interest rate derivatives -  124.0 -  124.0 
    Other derivatives  0.9  506.0  7.0  513.9 

    Total derivatives liabilities  729.1 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value:
       Equity  30.8 -  17.9 *  48.7 
       Debt  2.9 - -  2.9 
       Hybrid -  26.0 -  26.0 
       Life Insurance related - -  311.5  311.5 
       Structured products -  742.2 -  742.2 

    Total financial liabilities designated at fair value  1,131.3 

Total liabilities measured at fair value  50.2  1,473.8  336.4  1,860.4  1,860.4 

Assets less liabilities measured at fair value  4,322.9  (673.4)  123.1  3,772.6  3,772.6 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Dec. 31, 2011
(All figures in millions of CHF)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  Total 

Derivative financial instruments (assets):
    Currency derivatives  29.4  160.8 -  190.2 
    Interest rate derivatives -  60.7 -  60.7 
    Other derivatives -  232.1  3.7  235.8 
    Life insurance related -  -  51.4  51.4 

    Total derivatives assets  538.1 

Financial assets at fair value:
       Equity  699.8 - -  699.8 
       Debt  128.7  26.0 -  154.7 

    Total trading assets  854.5 

   Designated at inception:
       Equity -  1.4 -  1.4 
       Debt  51.3 - -  51.3 
       Life Insurance related - -  299.4  299.4 
       Other - -  15.1  15.1 

    Total financial assets designated at inception  367.2 

Investment securities: Available-for-sale
       Equity  4.5 -  28.8  33.3 
       Debt  3,190.1  716.7 -  3,906.8 
       Life Insurance related - -  44.3  44.3 

    Total investment securities available-for-sale  3,984.4 

Total assets measured at fair value 4,103.8 1,197.7  442.7  5,744.2  5,744.2 
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities):
    Currency derivatives  37.7  89.6 -  127.3 
    Interest rate derivatives  0.6  66.1 -  66.7 
    Other derivatives  326.6  75.1  7.7  409.4 

    Total derivatives liabilities  603.4 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value:
       Equity  148.2 -  18.0  166.2 
       Debt  20.1 - -  20.1 
       Hybrid -  25.1 -  25.1 
       Life Insurance related - -  279.3  279.3 

    Total financial liabilities designated at fair value  490.7 

Total liabilities measured at fair value  533.2  255.9  305.0  1,094.1  1,094.1 

Assets less liabilities measured at fair value 3,570.6 941.8  137.7  4,650.1  4,650.1 

* Level 3 equity related financial liabilities designated at fair value of CHF 17.9 million comprises put options held 
by non-controlling interests with valuations based on contractual terms and therefore is not dependent on internal 
assumptions on inputs, but is classified as Level 3 due to the absence of quoted prices or observable inputs.
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b) Movements of level 3 instruments

 Assets in level 3 

(All figures in millions of CHF)

 Derivative 
financial 

instruments 
 Designated 
at inception 

 Available-
for-sale 

 Total Assets 
in level 3 

At January 1, 2012  55.1  314.5  73.1  442.7 
Total gains or losses
   in the Statement of Income  4.0  13.8  6.2  24.0 
   as Other Comprehensive Income - -  (7.4)  (7.4)
Purchases / Premiums paid  1.5  33.6  4.9  40.0 
Disposals / Premiums received  (1.0)  (24.0)  (4.3)  (29.3)
Exchange differences  (1.4)  (8.0)  (1.1)  (10.5)

At December 31, 2012  58.2  329.9  71.4  459.5 

Total gains or losses for the period included in the 
Statement of Income for assets held at the end of the 
reporting period  4.0  13.8  6.2  24.0 

Liabilities in level 3

(All figures in millions of CHF)

 Derivative 
financial 

instruments 

 Financial 
liabilities 

designated at 
fair value 

 Total 
Liabilities in 

level 3 

At January 1, 2012  7.7  297.3  305.0 
Total gains or losses
   in the Statement of Income  (0.7)  16.1  15.4 
   as Other Comprehensive Income - - -
Purchases / Premiums paid -  30.8  30.8 
Disposals / Premiums received -  (7.6)  (7.6)
Exchange differences -  (7.2)  (7.2)

At December 31, 2012  7.0  329.4  336.4 

Total gains or losses for the period included in the 
Statement of Income for liabilities held at the end of the 
reporting period  (0.7)  16.1  15.4 
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 Assets in level 3 

(All figures in millions of CHF)

 Derivative 
financial 

instruments 
 Designated 
at inception 

 Available-
for-sale 

 Total Assets 
in level 3 

At January 1, 2011  47.5  307.0  76.7  431.2 
Total gains or losses
   in the Statement of Income  7.3  (26.6)  5.9  (13.4)
   as Other Comprehensive Income - -  (11.5)  (11.5)
Purchases / Premiums paid -  33.5  5.0  38.5 
Disposals / Premiums received -  (1.1)  (1.7)  (2.8)
Exchange differences  0.3  1.7  (1.3)  0.7 

At December 31, 2011  55.1  314.5  73.1  442.7 

Total gains or losses for the period included in the 
Statement of Income for assets held at the end of the 
reporting period  7.3  (26.6)  5.8  (13.5)

Liabilities in level 3

(All figures in millions of CHF)

 Derivative 
financial 

instruments 

 Financial 
liabilities 

designated at 
fair value 

 Total 
Liabilities in 

level 3 

At January 1, 2011  3.3  289.2  292.5 
Total gains or losses
   in the Statement of Income  4.5  (20.5)  (16.0)
   as Other Comprehensive Income - -  - 
Purchases / Premiums paid -  29.0  29.0 
Disposals / Premiums received -  (1.4)  (1.4)
Exchange differences  (0.1)  1.0  0.9 

At December 31, 2011  7.7  297.3  305.0 

Total gains or losses for the period included in the 
Statement of Income for liabilities held at the end of the 
reporting period  4.5  (20.5)  (16.0)

The total gains or losses for the period included in the Statement of Income for assets and liabilities in 
Level 3 held at the end of the reporting period is composed of CHF 9.6 million recorded in Net interest 
income (2011: CHF 9.2 million) and CHF (1.0) million recorded in Net gain / (loss) from financial 
instruments designated at fair value (2011: CHF (6.6) million).

No significant transfer between level 1, level 2 and level 3 instruments occurred during the year.

c) Fair value methodology used for level 3 instruments - valuation technique

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using one of the 
following valuation techniques:

i) Recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available)

ii) Reference to the current fair value of another instrument (that is substantially the same)

iii) Discounted cash flow analysis

iv) Option pricing models
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(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Valuation technique
Recent arm's length transactions Products
Available-for-sale - Equity securities Unquoted equity holding  -  2.2 

Discounted cash flow analysis
Derivatives Credit default swaps  (2.4)  (4.0)
Available-for-sale - 
Equity securities

Equities in stock exchanges and 
clearing houses  26.6  26.6 

Financial liabilities designated at 
fair value

Liability to purchase non-control-
ling interests  (17.9)  (18.0)

Discounted cash flow analysis and life expectancies (non-market observable inputs)
Derivatives Synthetic life settlement policies  53.6  51.4 
Financial assets at fair value Physical life settlement policies  35.9  36.2 
Financial assets at fair value Physical life settlement policies *  294.0  263.2 
Financial assets at fair value Contractual right to perpetual reve-

nue stream -  15.1 
Available-for-sale Physical life settlement policies  44.8  44.3 
Financial liabilities designated at 
fair value

Synthetic life settlement policies *
 (311.5)  (279.3)

Total  123.1  137.7 

* Assets valued at CHF 294 million (2011: CHF 263.2 million) and similarly valued liabilities are linked and thus a 
change in value in one would be mostly reflected in the other.
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4.2.2 Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities 
not presented on the Group’s balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in credit risk related to the Group 
are not reflected in the table below.

Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF) Note
Carrying 

value Fair Value Difference

Financial Assets
Due from other banks i)  3,467.2  3,470.5  3.3 
Loans and advances to customers ii)  10,475.0  10,541.4  66.4 
Investment securities - Held-to-maturity - Life insurance related iii)  682.4  476.8  (205.6)
Investment securities - Held-to-maturity - Debt iv)  411.2  374.1  (37.1)

 15,035.8  14,862.8  (173.0)
Financial Liabilities
Due to other banks v)  874.8  871.6  3.2 
Due to customers vi)  16,245.5  16,244.5  1.0 
Other financial liabilities vii)  2,938.1  2,964.2  (26.1)

 20,058.4  20,080.3  (21.9)

Net financial instruments  (5,022.6)  (5,217.5)  (194.9)

Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF) Note
Carrying 

value Fair Value Difference

Financial Assets
Due from other banks i)  2,256.4  2,262.9  6.5 
Loans and advances to customers ii)  9,884.3  9,938.3  54.0 
Investment securities - Held-to-maturity - Life insurance related iii)  680.8  471.7  (209.1)
Investment securities - Held-to-maturity - Debt iv)  417.5  349.5  (68.0)

 13,239.0  13,022.4  (216.6)
Financial Liabilities
Due to other banks v)  772.5  772.3  0.2 
Due to customers vi)  14,546.2  14,544.2  2.0 
Other financial liabilities vii)  3,356.5  3,382.1  (25.6)

 18,675.2  18,698.6  (23.4)

Net financial instruments  (5,436.2)  (5,676.2)  (240.0)

i) Due from other banks

Due from other banks includes inter-bank placements and items in the course of collection. The fair 
value of floating rate placements, overnight deposits and term deposits with a maturity of less than 90 
days is assumed to be their carrying amount.

ii) Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances 
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received up to the next 
interest reset date. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

iii) Investment securities - Held-to-maturity - Life insurance related

The fair value for held-to-maturity assets related to the life insurance portfolio is calculated using 
expected cash flows, which have been adjusted downwards to reflect actual versus expected mortality 
experience in the life settlement industry. These adjusted cash flows have been discounted at an Internal 
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Rate of Return (“IRR”) of 12.3%. This IRR is equivalent to an IRR of 16% using unadjusted cash flows 
(2011:16%) The carrying value is derived from an acquisition value (based on an IRR at acquisition of 
10.7%) and an accrual on an effective interest rate using a basis of 4.8% (2011: 8.1%) on life insurance 
policies outstanding at year end.

iv) Investment securities - Held-to-maturity - Debt

Fair value for held-to-maturity assets is calculated using expected cash flows discounted at current 
market rates, based on estimates using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity 
and yield characteristics.

v) & vi) Due to other banks and customers

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing 
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.

vii) Other financial liabilities

The value of structured products sold to clients is reflected on an accrual basis for the debt host (and 
on a fair value for the embedded derivative). The fair value of the debt host is based on the discounted 
amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be paid up to the date of maturity of the instrument. 
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

4.2.3 Deferred day-1 profit or loss

The table reflects financial instruments for which fair value is determined using valuation models 
where not all inputs are market-observable. Such financial instruments are initially recognised in the 
Group’s Financial Statements at their transaction price, although the values obtained from the relevant 
valuation model on day-1 may differ. The table shows the aggregate difference yet to be recognised in the 
Statement of Income at the beginning and end of the period.

(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011 

At January 1  1.7  1.8 
Recognised in the Statement of Income  (0.2)  (0.1)

At December 31  1.5  1.7 

4.2.4 Market risk measurement techniques

Market risk exposure is measured in several ways: nominal and VaR exposure, gap reports, sensitivity to 
risk factors and stress tests. VaR is not used for regulatory reporting of risks. It is used internally only, 
for control and management purposes. As part of the management of market risk, the Group may from 
time to time, undertake various hedging strategies (note 27). The Group enters into interest rate swaps to 
hedge the interest rate risk associated with the fixed rate bond assets as well as fixed rate liabilities.

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk, are outlined below.

a) Value at Risk

The Value at Risk (VaR) computation is a risk analysis tool designed to statistically estimate the 
maximum potential periodic loss from adverse movements in interest rates (excluding credit spreads), 
foreign currencies and equity prices, under normal market conditions. VaR is calculated using 
statistically expected changes in market parameters for a given holding period at a specified level of 
probability. The Group VaR is based on a full valuation historical VaR approach.

The Group’ subsidiary EFG Financial Products AG computes VaR figures and assumes a 1-day holding 
period with a 301-day observation period using a commercial tool (Sophis®). While the rest of the 
Group produces its VaR figures with an In-house tool using a 10-days holding period with a 201-day 
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observation period. EFG Financial Products AG also computes a Commodity VaR, while the Group does 
not compute or report Commodity VaR; therefore the EFG Financial Products AG Commodity VaR 
figures are added to the Group’s Equity price risk VaR.

The VaR computation does not purport to represent actual losses in fair value on earnings to be incurred 
by the Group, nor does it consider the effect of favourable changes in market rates. The Group cannot 
predict actual future movements in such market rates, and it does not claim that these VaR results are 
indicative of future movements in such market rates; or to be representative of any actual impact that 
future changes in market rates may have on the Group’s future results of operations or financial position.

Daily risk reports review compliance with nominal and stop loss limits. The following table presents 
VaR (as described above) for market risk, by risk type:

2012
VaR by risk type 12 months to 31 December
(All figures in millions of CHF) At December 31 Average High Low

Interest rate risk  1.9  4.1  5.6  1.9 
Currency risk  0.5  0.5  1.0  0.4 
Equity price risk  3.8  4.4  5.4  3.7 

VaR  6.2  9.0  12.0  6.0 

2011
VaR by risk type 12 months to 31 December
(All figures in millions of CHF) At December 31 Average High Low

Interest rate risk  5.1  5.3  7.1  2.8 
Currency risk  1.0  1.4  2.4  0.5 
Equity price risk  4.3  3.8  5.4  1.8 

VaR  10.4  10.5  14.9  5.1 

The Group considers interdependencies between the risk variables to be insignificant.

b) Alternative sensitivity analysis

Alternative sensitivity analysis is performed on the following financial instruments, which are not 
covered by VaR:

i) Trading assets and designated at fair value through profit or loss, which includes life insurance 
policies, structured products and unquoted equities

ii) Available-for-sale - life insurance policies

iii) Financial liabilities - life insurance policies and liabilities to purchase non-controlling interests.

The sensitivity analysis calculates the impact from changes in equity prices, interest rates and life 
expectancies. The computation does not purport to represent actual gains and losses to be incurred by 
the Group. The Group cannot predict actual future movements in such market rates, and it does not 
claim that these results are indicative of future movements in such market rates; or to be representative 
of any actual impact that future changes in market rates may have on the Group’s future results of 
operations or financial position.

The following risks exist for positions at December 31, 2012 for which VaR is not calculated above.
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(All figures in millions of CHF)

Risk Category Product Impact from: Market value
Statement of 

Income

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

i) Price risk
Available-for-sale Unquoted equities 10% price decrease  26.6 -  (2.7)
Financial assets at 
fair value

Life insurance companies 10% price decrease
 294.0 *  (29.4) -

Financial liabilities 
at fair value

Synthetic life insurance 
exposure

10% price decrease
 (311.5) *  31.2 -

Financial liabilities 
at fair value

Liabilities to purchase non-
controlling interests

20% increase in 
revenue  (17.9)  - -

ii) Interest rate risk
Financial assets at 
fair value

Life insurance policies 100 bps increase 
in IRR **  35.9  (1.3) -

Available-for-sale Life insurance policies 100 bps increase 
in IRR **  44.8 -  (0.8)

iii) Life expectancy (actual changes based on actuarial evidence)
Financial assets at 
fair value

Life insurance policies 3 month increase
 329.9  (9.7) -

Available-for-sale Life insurance policies 3 month increase  44.8 -  (1.2)
Financial liabilities 
at fair value

Synthetic life insurance 
exposure

3 month increase
 (311.5)  8.2 -

c) Stress tests

VaR calculations are complemented by various stress tests, which identify the potential impact of 
extreme market scenarios on portfolios values. These stress tests simulate both exceptional movements 
in prices or rates and drastic deteriorations in market correlations. In addition to nominal limits and 
stop losses, they are the primary tools used by internal market risk management. Stress test results are 
calculated daily by the Market Risk Management Unit and reported to management.

Stress	tests	provide	an	indication	of	the	potential	size	of	losses	that	could	arise	in	extreme	conditions.

The stress tests include:

i) Risk factor stress testing, where stress movements are applied to each risk category, and

ii) Ad hoc stress testing, which includes applying possible stress events to specific positions or regions.

Results of the stress tests are reviewed by senior management in each business unit, and by the Risk 
Committee of the Board. Stress testing is tailored to the business and typically uses scenario analysis.

d) Earnings at risk

In line with the FINMA circular 08/6 related to interest rate income, Net Interest Income sensitivity (NII) 
and Interest Earnings at Risk (IEAR) measurements have been implemented and outcomes are regularly 
reviewed against defined stress scenario limits.

4.2.5 Interest rate risk

The Bank’s and EFG International’s Boards set limits for the interest repricing gap or mismatch; which 
is monitored by the Market Risk Management Unit. The table below summarises the Group’s exposure 
to interest rate risk. It includes the Group’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the 
earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.
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Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Up to 3
months

3 - 12
months

1 - 5
years

Over 5
years

Non-
interest
bearing Total

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks  78.9  -  -  -  1,364.4  1,443.3 
Treasury bills  639.4  177.4  -  -  -  816.8 
Due from other banks  3,052.8  98.8  52.6  8.2  254.8  3,467.2 
Loans and advances to customers  8,671.0  1,021.3  743.3  6.8  32.6  10,475.0 
Derivative financial instruments  149.7  2.3  42.2  4.9  364.5  563.6 
Financial assets at fair value:
-Trading Assets  53.1  15.3  200.9  79.8  1,041.1  1,390.2 
-Designated at inception  12.6  38.4  -  330.0  0.4  381.4 
Investment securities:
- Available-for-sale  1,696.0  200.2  1,286.6  72.3  42.7  3,297.8 
- Held-to-maturity  2.1  419.3  -  682.4  -  1,103.8 
Other assets  0.2  -  -  -  581.6  581.8 

Total financial assets  14,355.8  1,973.0  2,325.6  1,184.4  3,682.1  23,520.9 

Liabilities
Due to other banks  810.0  0.1  48.3  -  16.4  874.8 
Due to customers  14,978.4  1,180.4  58.7  -  28.0  16,245.5 
Subordinated loans  -  -  57.0  -  -  57.0 
Derivative financial instruments  75.6  2.1  25.6  3.7  622.1  729.1 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value  148.3  358.2  446.1  117.9  60.8  1,131.3 
Other financial liabilities  579.9  743.0  1,444.8  170.4  -  2,938.1 
Provisions  -  -  -  -  11.5  11.5 
Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  432.4  432.4 

Total financial liabilities  16,592.3  2,283.8  2,080.5  292.0  1,171.2  22,419.8 

On-balance-sheet interest repricing gap  (2,236.5)  (310.8)  245.1  892.4  2,510.9  1,101.1 

Off-balance-sheet interest repricing gap  751.4  (19.6)  (704.5)  (27.3)  - -

Dec. 31, 2011

Total financial assets  14,503.8  2,502.1  1,779.7  1,056.4  1,340.8  21,182.8 

Total financial liabilities  15,462.1  1,640.5  1,543.8  592.2  884.3  20,122.9 

On-balance-sheet interest repricing gap  (958.3)  861.6  235.9  464.2  456.5  1,059.9 

Off-balance-sheet interest repricing gap  394.2  (55.6)  (255.0)  (11.8)  -  71.8 

4.2.6 Foreign exchange risk

The Group carries out foreign currency operations both for its clients, and for its own account. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net 
investments, in foreign operations. The overall net nominal positions per currency are monitored against 
overnight limits. In addition, daily 10 sliding days stop loss limits are in place. Entities in the Group use 
derivative contracts, such as forward or option contracts primarily to offset customer transactions.

Apart from the exposure to foreign currencies which relates to banking and trading activities in 
subsidiary companies, the Group is also exposed to foreign currency fluctuations because most of the 
subsidiaries and branches of EFG Bank AG use local currencies as their reporting currencies. From time 
to time the Group may enter into currency hedging arrangements to reduce the effects of exchange rate 
fluctuations on its income.
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The Group takes on limited exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency 
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Bank’s and EFG International’s Boards set 
limits on the level of exposure. See note 4.2.4 which reflects the Currency risk VaR.

4.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities when they fall due, and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.

The Group manages its liquidity risk in such a way as to ensure that sufficient liquidity is available to 
meet its commitments to customers, both in demand for loans and repayments of deposits, and to satisfy 
its own cash flow needs.

4.3.1 Liquidity risk management process

The Group attempts to avoid concentrations of its funding facilities. It observes its current liquidity 
situation and determines the pricing of its assets and credit business. The Group also has a liquidity 
management process in place that includes liquidity contingency plans. These contingency measures 
include the activation of repo transactions with prime counterparties, the liquidation of marketable 
securities and/or draw downs on lines of credit (Lombard facility) with the Swiss National Bank.

The Group complies with all regulatory requirements, including overnight liquidity limits (in the various 
countries in which it operates banks). It reports its daily liquidity situation to management on an 
individual entity basis for its banking subsidiaries. Stress tests are undertaken monthly, or as necessary. 
Both the Group’s capital, reserves position and conservative gapping policy, ensure that the Group runs 
only a small liquidity risk when funding customer loans.

EFG International group’s liquidity risk management process is carried out by the Financial Markets 
department and monitored by the Market Risk Management Unit. It includes:

- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. 
This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers

- Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated (repaid or sold) as 
protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow

- Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements

- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, 
week and month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for 
those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities, and the expected 
collection date of the financial assets (notes 4.3.3-4.3.4).

Financial Markets also monitors unmatched medium-term assets and the usage of overdraft facilities.

4.3.2 Funding approach

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by Financial Markets to maintain a wide diversification by 
currency, geography, provider, product and term.
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4.3.3 Financial liabilities cash flows

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities, at the 
balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3 - 12
months

1 - 5
years

Over 
5 years Total

Liabilities
Due to other banks  735.0  47.2  45.8  48.3  -  876.3 
Due to customers  12,806.1  1,187.2  621.5  1,639.1  -  16,253.9 
Derivative financial instruments  6,528.5  2,487.9  1,251.1  247.5  24.9  10,539.9 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value  44.3  21.3  307.6  322.0  436.0  1,131.2 
Other financial liabilities  316.2  197.6  753.5  1,456.9  240.1  2,964.3 
Provisions  2.9  0.9  2.8  4.9  -  11.5 
Other liabilities  365.1  8.1  48.1  4.3  6.8  432.4 

Total financial liabilities  20,798.2  3,950.2  3,030.4  3,723.0  707.8  32,209.6 

Total off balance-sheet  32.9  18.9  164.1  233.4  63.3  512.6 

Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3 - 12
months

1 - 5
years

Over 
5 years Total

Liabilities
Due to other banks  637.1  34.9  55.1  48.8  -  775.9 
Due to customers  12,773.2  1,170.9  497.0  116.6  -  14,557.7 
Derivative financial instruments  5,617.3  4,265.3  1,913.2  101.9  19.1  11,916.8 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value  156.5  1.5  6.1  11.5  315.1  490.7 
Other financial liabilities  869.8  294.4  718.6  1,466.5  34.1  3,383.4 
Provisions -  5.7  31.6 - -  37.3 
Other liabilities  256.2  25.2  28.7  1.8  4.4  316.3 

Total financial liabilities  20,310.1  5,797.9  3,250.3  1,747.1  372.7  31,478.1 

Total off balance-sheet  15.2  33.3  170.5  170.0  69.8  458.8 

4.3.4 Summary of Liquidity

The Group’s central treasury manages the liquidity and financing risks on an integrated basis. The 
liquidity positions of the Group’s entities are monitored and managed daily and exceed the regulatory 
minimum, as required by the Group’s market risk framework and policy. Overall, the Group, through 
its business entities enjoys a favourable funding base with stable and diversified customer deposits, 
which provide the vast majority of the Group’s total funding. Together with its capital resources, the 
surplus of stable customer deposits over loans to the Group’s customers is placed with the given treasury 
units where the Group’s funding and liquidity are managed to ensure this complies with the different 
local regulatory requirements. In addition, all entities operate within the Group’s liquidity policies and 
guidelines.
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4.3.5 Concentration risk

The Group monitors concentration risk through the following mechanisms:

- The overall level of market and credit exposures are tightly monitored by means of specific risk 
parameters and indicators in line with the Group’s overall committed level of risk appetite and avoidance 
of any concentration risk.

- These exposures and corresponding limits are proactively reviewed through Management Risk 
Committee and/or EFG International’s Board delegated Risk Committee, respectively the Bank’s Board 
of Directors in respect of EFG Bank European Financial Group SA, to ensure full consideration is given 
to both market and liquidity conditions, the overall risk framework of the Group, and to avoid any 
possible concentration risk in light of changing market environments.

4.4 Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing regulatory capital is to comply with the capital requirements 
set by regulators of the jurisdictions in which the Group entities operate and to safeguard the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital is continually monitored and reported on an 
individual and consolidated basis by the Group’s management, using the framework developed by 
the Bank for International Settlements (“BIS”). The regulatory capital requirement of the Group is 
ultimately determined by the rules implemented by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority 
(FINMA).

The Group’s eligible capital comprises two tiers:

- Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares of quoted subsidiaries), 
non-controlling interests (arising on consolidation from interests in permanent shareholders’ equity and 
including the Bons de Participation issued by EFG International) and reserves from retained earnings. 
The book value of acquisition related intangible assets net of acquisition related liabilities comes as a 
deduction to Tier 1 capital. Also deducted from Tier I, in 2011, was a loan to an affiliated intermediary 
holding company.

- Tier 2 capital: subordinated debts and 45 % of the available-for-sale investment securities revaluation 
reserve.

Risk-weighted assets are determined according to specified requirements which reflect the varying levels 
of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet exposures, and include amounts in respect of credit risk, 
market risk, non-counterparty related risk, settlement risk and operational risk.

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group for the 
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. During those two years, each regulated entity of the Group 
at the individual level and the EFG Group as a whole complied with their respective capital adequacy 
requirement.
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(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Tier 1 capital
Share capital  250.0  250.0 
Reserves and retained earnings  364.4  415.9 
Non-controlling interests  813.2  741.5 

IFRS: Total shareholders' equity  1,427.6  1,407.4 

Less: Proposed dividend on Ordinary Shares of quoted subsidiaries  (6.4)  (6.2)
Less: Accrual for estimated expected future dividend on Bons de 
Participation  (1.3)  (2.3)
Less: Available-for-sale investment securities revaluation reserve  (17.6)  (7.8)
Less: Loans to employees  (0.5)  (0.4)
Less: Goodwill (net of acquisition related liabilities) and intangibles 
(excluding software)  (245.3)  (254.8)
Less: Financial asset at fair value related to MBAM net of non-
controlling interests  -  (13.6)
Less: loans to an affiliated intermediary holding company  -  (290.0)

Total Regulatory adjustments  (271.1)  (575.1)

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital  1,156.5  832.3 

Tier 2 capital
Subordinated loans  50.7  - 
Available-for-sale investment securities revaluation reserve 
(45% weighted)  7.9  3.5 

Total regulatory capital  1,215.1  835.8 

Risk-weighted assets
Basel II: (BIS)
   Credit risk including Settlement risk  4,048.2  3,591.6 
   Non-counterparty related risk  64.8  65.8 
   Market risk *  624.4  613.6 
   Operational risk *  1,397.4  1,375.9 

Total risk-weighted assets  6,134.9  5,646.9 

Dec. 31, 2012
%

Dec. 31, 2011
%

BIS Ratio (after deducting proposed dividend on Ordinary Shares of 
quoted subsidiaries to non-controlling interests)  19.8  14.8 

* Risk weighted figure calculated by taking 12.5 times the capital adequacy requirement.
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5. Net interest income

(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011

Interest and discount income
Banks and customers  284.2   271.7
Available-for-sale securities  63.7   72.9
Financial assets at fair value  51.9   48.9
Held-to-maturity  37.7   27.8
Treasury bills and other eligible bills  2.5   7.6

Total interest and discount income  440.0   428.9

Interest expense
Banks and customers  (166.3)  (159.0)
Financial liabilities  (46.8)  (48.8)

Total interest expense  (213.1)  (207.8)

Net interest income  226.9   221.1

Interest income accrued on impaired financial assets in CHF 0.2 million (2011: CHF 0.9 million).

6. Net banking fee and commission income

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Securities and investment activities commission  568.6   488.5
Other services commission  60.2   76.3

Total banking fee and commission income  628.8   564.8

Banking fee and commission expense  (136.4)  (107.9)

Net banking fee and commission income  492.4   456.9

7. Dividend income

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Trading assets  23.1   18.2
Available-for-sale investment securities  1.2   1.1

Dividend income  24.3   19.3

8. Net trading income

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Foreign exchange  70.7   83.5
Equity securities  -   3.4
Debt securities and other financial instruments  1.8   (4.6)

Net trading income  72.5   82.3
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9. Net gain/(loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Equity securities  (20.5)  (2.5)
Debt securities  6.3   3.1
Derivatives instruments  10.1   -
Life insurance securities  0.5   (11.4)
Disposal of MBAM revenue share  13.9   -

Net gain / (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value  10.3   (10.8)

10. Gains less losses from investment securities

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Gain on disposal of Available-for-sale investment securities - 
Transfer from the Statement of Comprehensive Income
   Debt securities   (0.3)  4.8
   Life insurance securities   (1.6)  0.3

Gains less losses from investment securities   (1.9)  5.1

11. Impairment on loans and advances to customers

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Impairments on amounts due from customers   (219.5)  (2.5)
Reversal of impairments on amounts due from customers   0.3   0.6

Impairment on loans and advances to customers  (219.2)  (1.9)

12. Operating expenses

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Staff costs (note 13)  (471.0)  (465.0)
Professional services  (20.8)  (23.7)
Advertising and marketing  (11.9)  (11.7)
Administrative expenses  (66.9)  (72.1)
Operating lease rentals  (31.5)  (33.9)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 35)  (11.8)  (18.0)
Amortisation of intangible assets
  - Computer software and licences (note 34)  (10.4)  (8.6)
  - Other intangible assets (note 34)  (4.9)  (14.3)
Legal and litigation expenses  (7.3)  (6.7)
Provision for litigation risks (note 42)  9.9   (26.0)
Other  (38.7)  (41.4)

Operating expenses  (665.3)  (721.5)
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13. Staff costs

(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011

Wages, salaries and staff bonuses  (388.3)  (383.7)
Social security costs  (30.2)  (32.6)
Pension costs
  - Defined benefits (note 45)  (9.0)  (8.8)
  - Other net pension costs  (10.0)  (3.0)
Employee Equity Incentive Plans (note 53)  (12.0)  (15.5)
Other   (21.5)  (21.4)

Staff costs  (471.0)  (465.0)

As at December 31, 2012 the number of employees of the Group was 2,270 (2011: 2,563) and the average 
for the year was 2,367 (2011: 2,547).

14. Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011

Impairment of intangible assets   -   (74.3)
Impairment of goodwill   (1.4)  (170.1)

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill   (1.4)  (244.4)

See note 34.1.

15. Impairment of available-for-sale investment securities

(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011

Debt securities - Governments   -   (67.5)
Debt securities - Banks  -   (5.0)

Impairment of available-for-sale investment securities  -   (72.5)

16. Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries   (1.7)  -

Total  (1.7)  -

The net loss of CHF 1.7 million reflects losses on the diposal of EFG Wealth Management (India) Private 
Ltd and Quesada Kapitalförvaltning AB held by the EFGI Group.
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17. Income tax expense

(All figures in millions of CHF)  2012 2011

Current tax expense   (11.9)  (10.1)
Deferred tax (expense) / gain (note 18)   (8.7)  7.6

Total income tax expense  (20.6)  (2.5)

The tax on the Group’s profit or loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the weighted average basic rate of tax of the most material entities of the Group as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Operating (loss) before tax  (72.5)  (285.0)

Tax at the weighted average applicable rate of 15% (2011: 11%)  10.9   31.3

Tax effect of:
  Impairment of deferred tax assets  (4.8)  (7.7)
  Different tax rates in different countries  (3.2)  13.4
  (Loss) not subject to tax   (25.1)  (2.9)
  Current year losses not recognised  (3.0)  (14.5)
  Future years profits recognised  2.8   (8.0)
  Release of prior years tax over-provisions  2.2   1.2
  Impairments not deductible for tax  -   (19.4)
  Prior years losses recognised  -   4.3
  Other differences  (0.4)  (0.2)

Total income tax expense  (20.6)  (2.5)

The weighted average tax rate of 15% is based on the operating entities local tax relative to the taxable 
income in these jurisdictions.

18. Deferred income taxes

Deferred income taxes are calculated under the liability method on all temporary differences, using the 
expected effective local applicable rate.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities comprise the following:

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Deferred income tax assets  32.1   48.6
Deferred income tax liabilities  (40.3)  (37.6)

Net deferred income tax (liabilities) / assets  (8.2)  11.0

The movement on the net deferred income tax account is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1 11.0 (3.9)

(Income) / expense for the period in the Statement of Income  (8.7)  7.6
Available-for-sale adjustment through Other Comprehensive Income  (9.9)  7.4
Decrease on sale of subsidiary  (0.5) -
Exchange differences   (0.1)  (0.1)

At December 31  (8.2)  11.0
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18. Deferred income taxes (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Tax losses carried forward  30.9   43.0
Temporary differences - income under IFRS not recognised in taxable income*  1.2   5.6

Deferred income tax assets   32.1   48.6

Arising from acquisition of intangible assets  (26.8)  (25.9)
Temporary differences - expenses under IFRS not recognised in taxable income**  (13.5)  (11.7)

Deferred income tax liabilities   (40.3)  (37.6)

Net deferred income tax (liabilities) / assets  (8.2)  11.0

The deferred income tax (expense) / gain in the Statement of Income comprises the following temporary 
differences:

Utilisation of tax losses carried forward  (2.5)  (8.4)
Creation of deferred tax assets   2.8   1.7
Impairment of deferred tax assets  (4.8)  (7.7)
Deferred tax liabilities related to intangibles impaired -  17.7
Deferred tax liabilities related to intangibles amortised  0.8   3.5
Other temporary differences  (5.0)  0.8

Deferred tax (expense) / gain  (8.7)  7.6

*Temporary differences resulting in deferred tax assets of CHF 1.2 million (2011: CHF 5.6 million) relate to 
differences between local tax rules and accounting standards of CHF 0.9 million (2011: CHF 4.8 million) and 
CHF 0.3 million (2011: CHF 0.8 million) relate to valuation adjustments made to financial assets and liabilities only 
reflected in local tax accounts.

**Temporary differences resulting in deferred tax liabilities of CHF 13.5 million (2011: CHF 11.7 million) relate to 
valuation of financial assets not reflected in local tax accounts of CHF 6.7 million (2011: CHF 6.7 million), pension 
assets recognised for IFRS but not for local tax purposes of CHF 5.3 million (2011: CHF 4.2 million), timing of 
recognition of income of CHF nil (2011: CHF 0.7 million) and CHF 1.5 million (2011: CHF 0.1 million) relate to 
sundry other differences between local tax rules and accounting standards.

The Group has deferred tax assets related to tax losses carried forward of CHF 30.9 million (2011: 
CHF 43 million) as a result of subsidiaries with tax losses of CHF 178.7 million (2011: CHF 263 million) 
to carry forward against future taxable income. Of the tax losses carried forward, CHF 42.2 million will 
expire in less than 3 years, CHF 136.4 million will expire in more than 3 but less than 7 years and CHF 0.1 
million will expire after 7 years. The Group does not intend to repatriate profits from subsidiaries in the 
near future, and thus does not record deferred tax in respect to undistributed profit.
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19. Analysis of Swiss and foreign income and expenses from ordinary banking activities, 
as per the operating location

2012
(All figures in millions of CHF) Swiss Foreign Total

Interest and discount income  151.4  288.6  440.0 
Interest expense  (88.3)  (124.8)  (213.1)

Net interest income  63.1  163.8  226.9 

Banking fee and commission income  316.2  312.6  628.8 
Banking fee and commission expense  (76.6)  (59.8)  (136.4)

Net banking fee and commission income  239.6  252.8  492.4 

Dividend income 24.1 0.2  24.3 
Net trading income  (24.2) 96.7  72.5 
Net gain / (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value  31.6  (21.3)  10.3 
Gains less losses from investment securities  0.4  (2.3)  (1.9)
Other operating income / (loss)  21.2  (15.6)  5.6 

Net other income 53.1 57.7  110.8 

Operating income 355.8 474.3  830.1 

Operating expenses  (317.8)  (347.5)  (665.3)
Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill  (0.7)  (0.7)  (1.4)
Provision for restructuring costs  -  (11.7)  (11.7)
Currency translation loss transferred from the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income  -  (3.3)  (3.3)
Loss on disposal of subsidiary -  (1.7)  (1.7)
Impairment on loans and advances to customers  (2.7)  (216.5)  (219.2)

Profit / (loss) before tax 34.6 (107.1)  (72.5)

Income tax expense  (5.3)  (15.3)  (20.6)

Net profit / (loss) for the period  29.3  (122.4)  (93.1)

Net (loss) / profit for the period attributable to:
Net (loss) / profit attributable to owners of the Group  (30.9) (123.3)  (154.2)
Net profit attributable to non-controlling interests  60.2  0.9  61.1 

29.3 (122.4)  (93.1)
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19. Analysis of Swiss and foreign income and expenses from ordinary banking activities, as per the operating 
location (continued)

2011
(All figures in millions of CHF) Swiss Foreign Total

Interest and discount income  169.8  259.1  428.9 
Interest expense  (101.6)  (106.2)  (207.8)

Net interest income  68.2  152.9  221.1 

Banking fee and commission income  262.0  302.8  564.8 
Banking fee and commission expense  (71.7)  (36.2)  (107.9)

Net banking fee and commission income  190.3  266.6  456.9 

Dividend income 19.1 0.2  19.3 
Net trading income 39.0 43.3  82.3 
Net (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value  (9.6)  (1.2)  (10.8)
Gains less losses from investment securities  1.3  3.8  5.1 
Other operating income / (loss)  30.8  (29.3)  1.5 

Net other income / (loss) 80.6 16.8  97.4 

Operating income 339.1 436.3  775.4 

Operating expenses  (367.0)  (354.5)  (721.5)
Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill  (28.0)  (216.4)  (244.4)
Impairment on available-for-sale investment securities  -  (72.5)  (72.5)
Provision for restructuring costs  (2.5)  (7.5)  (10.0)
Currency translation loss transferred from the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income  -  (10.0)  (10.0)
Impairment on loans and advances to customers  (0.2)  (1.7)  (1.9)

Loss before tax  (58.6)  (226.4)  (285.0)

Income tax (expense) / gain  (11.5)  9.0  (2.5)

Net loss for the period  (70.1)  (217.4)  (287.5)

Net (loss) / profit for the period attributable to:
Net profit / (loss) attributable to owners of the Group 52.9  (207.6)  (154.7)
Net (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests  (127.7)  (5.1)  (132.8)

 (74.8)  (212.7)  (287.5)

20. Cash and balances with central banks

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Cash in hand  9.9   9.4
Balances with central banks  1,433.4   1,162.0

Cash and balances with central banks  1,443.3   1,171.4
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21. Cash and cah equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances 
with less than 90 days maturity:

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Cash and balances with central banks   1,443.3   1,171.4
Treasury bills and other eligible bills   184.1   69.1
Due from other banks - At sight  1,129.0   811.8
Due from other banks - At term  1,743.1   901.2

Cash and cash equivalents with less than 90 days maturity  4,499.5   2,953.5

22. Treasury bills and other eligible bills

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Treasury bills  738.1   620.6
Other eligible bills  78.7   203.3

Treasury bills and other eligible bills  816.8   823.9

Pledged treasury bills with central banks and clearing system companies  -   56.8

23. Due from other banks

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

At sight  1,129.0   811.8
At term - with maturity of less than 90 days  1,743.1   901.2
At term - with maturity of more than 90 days  595.1   543.4

Due from other banks  3,467.2   2,256.4

Pledged due from other banks  353.1   354.5

24. Loans and advances to customers

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Due from customers  7,700.7   7,607.2
Mortgages  2,784.6   2,285.5

Gross loans and advances  10,485.3   9,892.7

Less: Provision for impairment losses (note 25)  (10.3)  (8.4)

Loans and advances to customers  10,475.0   9,884.3
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24. Loans and advances to customers (continued)

Geographic sector risk concentrations within the Group’s customer loan portfolio were as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 % Dec. 31, 2011 %

Latin America and Caribbean  2,977.1 28.4%  2,883.5 29.2%
Asia and Oceania  2,462.6 23.5%  2,497.5 25.3%
Europe (other than below)  1,933.8 18.5%  1,974.8 20.0%
United Kingdom  1,440.2 13.7%  1,237.8 12.5%
Luxembourg  671.9 6.4%  472.9 4.8%
Africa and Middle East  424.0 4.0%  292.4 3.0%
United States and Canada  349.4 3.3%  304.1 3.1%
Switzerland  216.0 2.1%  221.3 2.2%

Total  10,475.0 100.0%  9,884.3 100.0%

This analysis is based on the client’s place of residence and not necessarily on the domicile of the 
credit risk.

25. Provision for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  8.4  6.1 
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) on loans and advances to customers  4.4  1.9 
Utilisation of provision  (2.4) -
Exchange differences  (0.1)  0.4 

At December 31 (note 24)  10.3  8.4 

26. Collateral for loans

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2011

Loans and advances to customers
   Mortgages  2,783.4  2,283.5 
   Secured by other collateral  7,598.4  7,223.7 
   Unsecured *  93.2 377.1

Total loans and advances to customers  10,475.0  9,884.3 

Off-balance sheet commitments 
  Contingent liabilities secured by other collateral  466.9  427.5 
  Contingent liabilities unsecured  45.7  31.8 

Total off-balance sheet commitments  512.6  459.3 

*The unsecured loans include CHF 44.4 million (2011: 23.0 million) of loans made with no collateral and 
CHF 48.8 million (2011: CHF 354.1 million) of loans where the collateral value is below the value of the loan. The 
uncollateralised portion of these loans is classified as “unsecured”, however within approved unsecured lending limits 
for the customer.

See note 4.1 for further details on collateral.
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27. Derivatives financial instruments

The Group’s credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the forward or swap contracts if 
counterparties fail to perform their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference 
to the current fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the 
market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties using the same 
techniques as for its lending activities, or the derivatives fair values, with bilateral collateralisation 
agreements for amounts over and above agreed thresholds.

Credit risk on index, interest rate and bond futures is negligible because futures contracts are collateralised 
by cash or marketable securities, and changes in their value are settled daily.

The notional amounts of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison, but do not indicate the 
amount of future cash flows, or the current fair value of the underlying instruments. Accordingly, they do 
not indicate the Group’s exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative instruments become favourable 
(assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates, credit spreads or 
foreign exchange rates, relative to their terms. The fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities 
can fluctuate significantly from time to time.

27.1 Derivatives financial instruments

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Contract/
notional
amount

Fair values
Assets

Fair values
Liabilities

Contract/
notional
amount

Fair values
Assets

Fair values
Liabilities

Derivatives held for trading
Currency derivatives
  - Currency forwards  10,358.2  80.1  70.1  13,903.4  160.4  99.0 
  - OTC currency options  1,936.7  19.7  21.1  2,232.9  29.8  26.0 
  - Futures  1.5  0.1  -  30.7  -  2.3 

 99.9  91.2  190.2  127.3 
Interest rate derivatives
  - Interest rate swaps  5,425.4  64.7  45.4  2,853.7  52.8  31.7 
  - OTC interest rate options  191.2  7.7  0.3  131.2  5.9  0.3 
  - Interest rate futures  895.6  0.5  0.3  291.4  0.6  0.6 

 72.9  46.0  59.3  32.6 
Other derivatives
  - Equity options and index futures  6,848.0  328.3  505.9  4,582.6  228.7  399.3 
  - Credit default swaps  300.8  4.6  7.1  160.8  3.7  7.7 
  - Total return swaps  123.6  53.6  -  126.9  51.4  - 
  - Commodity options and futures 33.9  2.2  0.9  74.0  3.4  2.4 

 388.7  513.9  287.2  409.4 

Total derivative assets / liabilities held for trading  561.5  651.1  536.7  569.3 

Derivatives held for hedging
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges
  - Interest rate swaps  905.5  2.1  78.0  654.9  1.4  34.1 

Total derivative assets / liabilities held for hedging  2.1  78.0  1.4  34.1 

Total derivative assets / liabilities  563.6  729.1  538.1  603.4 
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27.2 Hedging activities

The hedging practices and accounting treatment are disclosed in note 2(d).

Fair value hedges

The Group hedges its interest rate risk resulting from a potential decrease in the fair value of fixed rate 
bond assets or loans, by using interest rate swaps. The net fair value of these swaps at December 31, 2012 
was negative CHF 75.9 million (2011: negative CHF 32.7 million).

28. Financial assets at fair value - trading assets

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Issued by public issuers: Government  123.5  42.7 
Issued by non public issuers: Banks  189.9  98.2 
Issued by non public issuers: Other  1,076.8  713.6 

Total  1,390.2  854.5 

The movement in the account is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  854.5  651.4 
Additions  8,039.8  7,330.9 
Disposals (sale and redemption)  (7,483.4)  (7,124.6)
(Losses) from changes in fair value  (20.8)  (3.2)

At December 31  1,390.2  854.5 

29. Financial assets at fair value - designated at inception

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Issued by public issuers: Government  51.1  51.1 
Issued by non public issuers: Others  0.4  1.6 
Issued by other issuers: US life insurance companies *  294.0  263.2 
Issued by other issuers: US life insurance companies  35.9  36.2 
Other MBAM revenue share -  15.1 

Total  381.4  367.2 

Equity securities Unlisted but quoted  0.4  1.4 
Debt securities Listed  51.1  51.3 
Life insurance policies securities Unquoted - Discounted cash flow analysis *  294.0  263.2 
Life insurance policies securities Unquoted - Discounted cash flow analysis  35.9  36.2 
Other Unquoted - Discounted cash flow analysis -  15.1 

Total  381.4  367.2 
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The movement in the account is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

At January 1  367.2  370.8 
Additions  33.8  123.2 
Disposals (sale and redemption)  (25.3)  (119.9)
Gains / (losses) from changes in fair value  13.8  (5.5)
Exchange differences  (8.1)  (1.4)

At December 31  381.4  367.2 

* See note 40.

30. Investment securities - available-for-sale

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Issued by public bodies: Government  1,796.8  1,857.8 
Issued by public bodies: Other public sector  381.2  286.0 
Issued by other issuers: Banks  1,047.6  1,762.4 
Issued by other issuers: US life insurance companies  44.8  44.3 
Issued by other issuers: Other  27.4  33.8 

Total  3,297.8  3,984.3 

Debt securities: Listed / Quoted  2,858.7  3,182.1 
Debt securities: Unlisted  37.5  8.0 
Debt securities: Unquoted - Discounted cash flow analysis  329.0  716.7 
Equity securities: Listed / Quoted  1.0  4.4 
Equity securities: Unquoted - Other valuation Models  26.8  28.8 
Life insurance related: Unquoted - Discounted cash flow analysis  44.8  44.3 

Total  3,297.8  3,984.3 

Pledged securities with central banks, clearing system companies or third-party banks *  2,590.2  2,502.0 

The movement in the account is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  3,984.3  3,690.3 
Exchange differences  (21.9)  40.1 
Additions  1,680.0  2,136.0 
Disposals (sale and redemption)  (2,392.9)  (1,841.8)
Gains / (losses) from changes in fair value  49.1  (50.3)
Accrued interest  (0.8)  10.0 

At December 31  3,297.8  3,984.3 

* The Group has pledged Financial Investments as collateral for CHF 2,383.7 million (2011: CHF 2,090 million). 
This is related to the Group’s role as collateral provider in relation to structured products issued by a subsidiary, 
where the holders of the structured products assume a default risk that varies according to the creditworthiness of 
the issuer. The insolvency of the issuer may result in a total loss for the investor. In order to minimise this risk, SIX 
Swiss Exchange offers a service for the collateralisation of structured products, and the Group has pledged assets to 
SIX Swiss Exchange.
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31. Investment securities - available-for-sale equity reserve

Statement of Comprehensive Income - revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities:

Gains and losses arising from the changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investment securities are 
recognised in a revaluation reserve for available-for-sale financial assets in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  (117.8)  (142.8)
Fair value gain / (losses) on available-for-sale investment securities, before tax 
net of non-controlling interests  49.1  (50.3)
Impairment on available-for-sale investment securities transferred to the 
Statement of Income  -  72.5 
Transfer to Statement of Income of realised available-for-sale investment 
securities reserve, before tax  1.9  (4.6)
Tax effect on changes in fair value of available-for-sale investment securities  (9.9)  7.4 

At December 31  (76.7)  (117.8)

32. Investment securities - held to maturity

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Issued by public bodies: Government  108.8  109.7 
Issued by public bodies: Other public sector 303.4 307.0
Issued by other issuers: Banks 9.2 8.0
Issued by other issuers: US Life insurance companies  685.2  685.2 
Issued by other issuers: Financial services  -  3.0 
Gross investment securities - held-to-maturity  1,106.6  1,112.9 

Impairment on financial assets held-to-maturity  (2.8)  (4.4)

Total  1,103.8  1,108.5 

The movement in the account is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  1,108.5  1,029.5 
Exchange differences  (20.8)  (5.0)
Additions/premiums paid  46.3 60.2
Redemptions  (67.3) (5.8)
Accrued interest  37.1 29.6

At December 31  1,103.8  1,108.5 

Pledged securities with central banks and clearing system companies  -  - 
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33. Shares in subsidiary undertakings

Name Line of business Country of 
incorporation 

Direct 
voting %

Indirect 
voting %

Share 
Capital (000s)

Main Subsidiaries
EFG International AG, Zurich Holding Switzerland 56.4 56.4 CHF  73,335 
EFG Bank AG, Zurich Bank Switzerland 100.0 56.4 CHF  162,410 
EFG Bank (Monaco), Monaco Bank Monaco 100.0 56.4 EUR  26,944 
EFG Bank & Trust (Bahamas) Ltd, Nassau Bank Bahamas 100.0 56.4 USD  32,000 
EFG	Bank	von	Ernst	AG,	Vaduz Bank Liechtenstein 100.0 56.4 CHF  25,000 
EFG Bank (Luxembourg) S.A., Luxembourg Bank Luxembourg 100.0 56.4 EUR  28,000 
EFG Private Bank Limited, London Bank United Kingdom 100.0 56.4 GBP  1,596 
PRS Investment Services (Cayman) Limited, 
George Town

Investment Advisory 
& Fund Administration Cayman Islands 100.0 56.4 USD  - 

PRS International Consulting Inc, Miami Investment Advisory 
& Fund Administration USA 100.0 56.4 USD  - 

EFG Capital International Corp, Miami Broker dealer USA 100.0 56.4 USD 12,200
EFG Finance (Guernsey) Limited, Guernsey Finance Company Guernsey 100.0 56.4 EUR  26 
EFG Finance (Jersey) Limited, Jersey Finance Company Jersey 100.0 56.4 CHF  3 
EFG Investment (Luxembourg) SA, Luxembourg Holding Luxembourg 100.0 56.4 EUR  579,803 
EFG Asset Management Holding AG, Zurich Holding Switzerland 100.0 56.4 CHF  600 
Asesores Y Gestores Financieros S.A., Madrid Investment Advisory Spain 72.0 40.6 EUR  92 
EFG Financial Products Holding AG, Zurich Holding Switzerland 20.3 11.4 CHF  13,333 
LFS Investment VII AB, Stockholm Investment Company Sweden 10.7 6.0 SEK  100 
EFG Investments Limited, Jersey Investment Company Jersey 100.0 100.0 CHF  10

EFG Bank European Financial Group SA holds 100% of EFG Investments Limited and 56.4% of 
EFG International AG, which in turn holds directly or indirectly 100% of the other subsidiaries, with the 
exception of EFG Financial Products Holding AG (in which it holds 20.3% but with effective control), Asesores 
y Gestores Financieros S.A. (in which it holds and controls 72%) and LFS Invest VII AB (which it controls but 
in which it holds 10.7%).

Following the Initial Public Offering of EFG Financial Products Holding AG, Zurich (“EFG FP”), the Group 
continued to control EFG FP pursuant to a Shareholders’ Agreement while EFG FP’s other shareholders, in 
general, will not be able to affect the outcome of any shareholder vote. The Group continued fully to consolidate 
EFG FP from an accounting, regulatory supervision and regulatory capital point of view for as long as it was 
holding at least 20% of the share capital of the company and a majority of the Board of Directors was appointed 
by the Group pursuant to the aforementioned Shareholders’ Agreement.

On March 12, 2013 the EFG Group announced the sale to Notenstein Private Bank, subjet to regulatory 
approvals, of its remaining stake of 20.25% in EFG Financial Products for CHF 70.2 million (CHF 52 per share, 
compared with the IPO price of CHF 45). The transaction is expected to complete during the first half of 2013.
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34. Intangible assets

(All figures in millions of CHF)

Computer 
software and 

licences

Other 
Intangible 

Assets Goodwill

Total 
Intangible 

Assets

At January 1, 2011
Cost  40.8  296.5  805.9  1,143.2 
Accumulated amortisation  (24.8)  (165.0)  (374.6)  (564.4)

Net book value  16.0  131.5  431.3  578.8 

Year ended December 31, 2011
Opening net book amount  16.0  131.5  431.3  578.8 
Acquisition of computer software and licences  10.3 - -  10.3 
Amortisation charge for the year - Computer software and 
licences (note 12)  (8.6) - -  (8.6)
Amortisation charge for the year - Other intangible assets 
(note 12) -  (14.3) -  (14.3)
Impairment charge for the year (note 34.1) -  (74.3)  (170.1)  (244.4)
Disposal as part of MBAM restructuring - -  (14.7)  (14.7)
Exchange differences -  (1.9)  (4.6)  (6.5)

Closing net book value  17.7  41.0  241.9  300.6 

At December 31, 2011
Cost  51.6  190.8  616.8  859.2 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (33.9)  (149.8)  (374.9)  (558.6)

Net book value  17.7  41.0  241.9  300.6 

Year ended December 31, 2012
Opening net book amount  17.7  41.0  241.9  300.6 
Acquisition of computer software and licences  15.3 - -  15.3 
Amortisation charge for the year - Computer software and 
licences (note 12)  (10.4) - -  (10.4)
Amortisation charge for the year - Other intangible assets 
(note 12) -  (4.9) -  (4.9)
Impairment charge for the year (note 34.1) - -  (1.4)  (1.4)
Revaluation of earn out obligations (note 34.2) - -  3.5  3.5
Disposal of Goodwill - -  (8.1)  (8.1)
Exchange differences -  0.2  (0.2)  - 

Closing net book value  22.6  36.3  235.7  294.6 

At December 31, 2012
Cost  66.9  190.8  611.7  869.4 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (44.3)  (154.5)  (376.0)  (574.8)

Net book value  22.6  36.3  235.7  294.6 

The Group has acquired several legal entities and/or businesses since its inception. These business 
combinations have generally been made in order to achieve one or several of the following objectives: 
acquiring “client relationships”, acquiring specific know-how or products, or setting up a permanent 
establishment in a given location.

The accounting for these business combinations was dependent on the accounting standard in force at the 
time of the acquisition, as described below.
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34.1 Impairment charge for the year
December 31, 2011

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Other Intangible 

Assets Goodwill Total

Derivative Structured Asset Management, Sweden/Cayman  (6.7)  (57.6)  (64.3)
Asesores y Gestores Financieros S.A., Spain  (24.9)  (21.9)  (46.8)
PRS International Consulting Inc, USA  (27.0)  (12.0)  (39.0)
EFG Bank von Ernst AG, Liechtenstein  (1.9)  (27.5)  (29.4)
EFG Banque Privée, France  (5.3)  (17.0)  (22.3)
On	Finance	S.A.,	Switzerland  (3.1)  (17.2)  (20.3)
Bansabadell	Finance,	Switzerland -  (7.4)  (7.4)
EFG Wealth Management Chiltern, United Kingdom  (1.8)  (5.1)  (6.9)
EFG Wealth Management (India) Private Limited, India  (2.5)  (0.6)  (3.1)
EFG Bank (Gibraltar) Ltd, Gibraltar -  (2.4)  (2.4)
Bull Wealth Management Group Inc, Canada  (1.1)  (1.1)  (2.2)
Bruxinter,	Switzerland -  (0.3)  (0.3)

Total  (74.3)  (170.1)  (244.4)

December 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Other Intangible 

Assets Goodwill Total

EFG Bank (Gibraltar) Ltd, Gibraltar -  (0.7)  (0.7)
Bruxinter,	Switzerland -  (0.7)  (0.7)

Total  -  (1.4)  (1.4)

34.2 Revaluation of earn-out obligations

In the period, a net credit adjustment of CHF 3.5 million was made to earn out obligations as a result of 
the annual reassessment of these liabilities. These liabilities are based on the levels of profit generated by 
subsidiaries post acquisition.

These earn-out adjustments relate to acquisitions made prior to 2010, and therefore are accounted for as 
adjustments to goodwill.

34.3 Impairment tests

The Group’s goodwill and intangible assets (together “Intangibles”) acquired in business combinations 
are reviewed at least annually for impairment at December 31 by comparing the recoverable amount of 
each cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which Intangibles have been allocated a carrying value.

On the basis of the impairment testing methodology described below, the Group concluded that the year-
end 2012 balances of Intangibles allocated to all its cash generating units remain recoverable.

Where the carrying values have been compared to recoverable amounts using the “value in use” approach, 
the risk adjusted discount rates used are based on observable market long-term government bond yields 
(10 years) for the relevant currencies plus a risk premium of 4% to 6.2%. A period of 5 years is used for 
all cash flow projections.

Where the carrying values have been compared to “fair value less costs to sell”, the fair values have 
been calculated using two methodologies. Firstly, on the basis of the recoverable Net Asset Value 
and Intangibles based on comparable market transactions (2% to 4% of Assets under Management). 
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Secondly, calculations have been performed using a PE approach (range between 11 and 12.3) based on 
similar transactions for comparable listed companies. The revenue basis for the PE approach was based 
on expected future revenues.

The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets as at December 31, 2012 allocated to each cash 
generating unit are as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF)
 Intangible 

Assets  Goodwill Total

Segment Cash generating unit Discount rate/
Growth Rate

Period

Value in use
United Kingdom Harris Allday  4.5%/3.5%  5 years 20.0 36.1 56.1
Continental Europe PRS Group  6.0%/1.0%  5 years 0.8 33.9 34.7
Continental Europe Asesores y Gestores 

Financieros SA  5.5%/1.0%  5 years 2.5 21.9 24.4
Continental Europe EFG Bank von Ernst AG  4.6%/1.0%  5 years 0.2 4.7 4.9

Fair value less costs to sell  P/E  AuM Multiple 
Continental Europe Banque Edouard 

Constant  12.3  3.1% 76.3 76.3
Continental Europe Banque Monégasque 

de Gestion  11.0  3.8% 4.9 23.3 28.2

Other  Various* 
Various Other Cash Generating 

Units 7.9 39.5 47.4

Total carrying values 36.3 235.7 272.0

* Discounts rates for Value in use approach are between 4.6% and 5.8% P/E are between 11 and 12.3 based on 
earnings.

The assessment for impairment of goodwill and intangibles of the Group considered the performance 
outlook of each cash generating unit and the underlying business operations, to determine whether the 
recoverable amount for these cash generating units covers its carrying amount. Based on the tests performed, 
the Group concluded that intangibles and goodwill remained recoverable at December 31, 2012.

Earnings are estimated based on current and future business initiatives and forecast results derived 
therefrom.

The table below shows the sensitivity to permanent declines in assets under management, which would 
have an impact on forecasted future profits. For sensitivity purposes the impact of a 20% and a 50% 
decline in forecasted profit before tax are presented.

(All figures in millions of CHF)

 Impairment 
impact of 20% 

decline in 
forecasted profit 

 Impairment 
impact of 50% 

decline in 
forecasted profit 

Impairment 
impact of 100 
bp increase on 

discount rate

Required decline 
in forecasted 

profit to equal 
carrying value

Cash generating unit
Banque Edouard Constant  0.4  28.9  - 20%
Harris Allday  -  -  - 55%
PRS Group  -  10.0  - 30%
Banque Monégasque de Gestion  2.9  12.3  - 11%
Asesores y Gestores Financieros SA  -  -  - 69%
EFG Bank von Ernst AG  -  2.8  - 42%
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35. Property, plant and equipment

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Land and 
Buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture, 
equipment, 

motor vehicles
Computer 
hardware Total

At January 1, 2011
Cost  12.9  40.2  21.4  39.3  113.8 
Accumulated depreciation  (0.6)  (18.0)  (11.7)  (26.9)  (57.2)

Net book value  12.3  22.2  9.7  12.4  56.6 

Year ended December 2011
Opening net book amount  12.3  22.2  9.7  12.4  56.6 
Additions  -  1.4  1.7  6.1  9.2 
Depreciation charge for the year (note 12)  (0.1)  (7.8)  (3.1)  (7.0)  (18.0)
Disposal and write-offs  - (0.1)  (0.1)  -  (0.2)
Exchange differences  -  -  (0.2)  (0.1)  (0.3)

Closing net book value  12.2  15.7  8.0  11.4  47.3 

At December 31, 2011
Cost  12.9  41.0  21.7  45.0  120.6 
Accumulated depreciation  (0.7)  (25.3)  (13.7)  (33.6)  (73.3)

Net book value  12.2  15.7  8.0  11.4  47.3 

Year ended December 2012
Opening net book amount  12.2  15.7  8.0  11.4  47.3 
Additions  -  1.3  1.0  5.2  7.5 
Depreciation charge for the year (note 12)  -  (3.8)  (2.4)  (5.6)  (11.8)
Disposal of subsidiary  -  (0.1)  (0.2)  -  (0.3)
Disposal and write-offs  -  (0.3)  (0.3)  (0.1)  (0.7)
Exchange differences  0.2  -  - (0.1)  0.1 

Closing net book value  12.4  12.8  6.1  10.8  42.1 

At December 31, 2012
Cost  13.1  40.9  20.1  47.2  121.3 
Accumulated depreciation  (0.7)  (28.1)  (14.0)  (36.4)  (79.2)

Net book value  12.4  12.8  6.1  10.8  42.1 

36. Other assets

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  98.4  65.6 
Settlement balances*  407.4  55.0 
Current income tax assets  3.5  15.7 
Other assets  72.5  58.0 

Other assets  581.8  194.2 

* Settlement balances reflect trade date versus settlement date accounting principle application on the issuance of 
structured products and is dependent on transactions executed over the year-end period.
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37. Due to other banks

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Due to other banks at sight  806.4  522.3 
Due to other banks at term  68.4  250.2 

Due to other banks  874.8  772.5 

38. Due to customers

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Non interest bearing  9,184.7  7,491.3 
Interest bearing  7,060.8  7,054.9 

Due to customers  16,245.5  14,546.2 

39. Subordinated loans

EUR 67.6 million note (CHF 81.6 million equivalent) due January 13, 2022 with a fixed annual coupon 
for the first 5 years paying 8%, net of unamortised discount on issuance of CHF 24.6 million.

40. Financial liabilities designated at fair value

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Structured products Unquoted - Recent arm's length transactions  742.2  - 
Synthetic life insurance Unquoted -Discounted cash flow analysis  311.5  279.3 
Equities (short positions) Listed / Quoted  30.8  148.2 
Equities (liabilities to purchase 
non-controlling interests

Discounted cash flow analysis
 17.9  18.0 

Debt securities (short positions) Listed / Quoted  2.9  20.1 
Hybrid securities Unquoted - Recent arm's length transactions  26.0  25.1 

Total  1,131.3  490.7 

Credit rating impact

Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value are attributable to changes in 
market risk factors. The credit rating of the Group had no impact on the fair value changes of these 
liabilities.

Synthetic life insurances

The synthetic life insurance liability relates to a structured transaction which is economically hedged by 
a portfolio of life insurance policies classified as financial asset - life insurance related at fair value of 
CHF 294 million (2011: CHF 263.2 million, see note 29).

Liability to purchase non-controlling shareholders interests

The non-controlling shareholders of Asesores y Gestores Financieros SA have the right to sell their shares 
to a wholly owned subsidiary of EFG International AG. This right applied from January 1, 2010 and that 
right expires on the occurrence of potential future events. According to IAS 32, these put options give rise 
to a financial liability that corresponds to the discounted repurchase amount. The liability was initially 
recognised in 2008 by reclassification from Group equity. As of December 31, 2012, the financial liability 
was valued at CHF 17.9 million (2011: CHF 18.0 million).
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41. Other financial liabilities

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Structured products issued  2,938.1  3,356.5 

Total  2,938.1  3,356.5 

42. Provisions

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Provision for 

litigation risks
Provisions for 
restructuring

Other 
provisions Total

At January 1, 2011 - - 6.9 6.9
Increase in provisions recognised in the 
Statement of Income 26.0 10.0 0.7 36.7
Release of provisions recognised in the 
Statement of Income - - (0.4) (0.4)
Provisions used during the year - (2.5) (3.3) (5.8)
Exchange differences - - (0.1) (0.1)

At December 31, 2011 26.0 7.5 3.8 37.3

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Provision for 

litigation risks
Provision for 
restructuring

Other 
provisions Total

At January 1, 2012 26.0 7.5 3.8 37.3
Increase in provisions recognised in the 
Statement of Income 1.2 12.0 0.8 14.0
Release of provisions recognised in the 
Statement of Income (11.1) (0.3) (0.3) (11.7)
Provisions used during the year (12.8) (12.4) (3.2) (28.4)
Exchange differences 0.2 0.1 - 0.3

At December 31, 2012 3.5 6.9 1.1 11.5

Expected payment within 12 months - 5.5 1.1 6.6
Expected payment thereafter 3.5 1.4 - 4.9

3.5 6.9 1.1 11.5

Provision for litigation risks

The provision for litigation risks at December 2011 comprised primarily provisions of CHF 16.0 million 
for a complaint relating to an investment product sold to a Scandinavian client and CHF 5.7 million 
related to a settlement reached in December 2011 related to a US Class Action related to the Madoff 
fraud.

In 2012 the case with the Scandinavian client went to arbitration and a settlement was reached resulting 
in a CHF 11.1 million release of excess provision, as the majority of the settlement was covered by an 
insurance policy.

The CHF 5.7 million was for a settlement reached in December 2011 related to a US Class Action related 
to the Madoff fraud and was utilised when settled in early 2012.

The residual CHF 3.5 million of provision for litigation at the end of 2012 are for numerous small 
provisions for litigation which are expected to be settled over the next two to three years.
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42. Provisions (continued)

Provision for restructuring

The Group made the decision to close the businesses in France, Sweden and Gibraltar. These provisions 
will primarily be utilised in the first 6 months of 2013 and relate to the closure costs of these entities which 
are part of the way through their closure programmes.

43. Other liabilities

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Deferred income and accrued expenses  195.4  199.7 
Settlement balances  206.6  75.8 
Short term compensated absences  6.1  7.2 
Contingent acquisition obligations  -  3.8 
Other liabilities  24.3  29.8 

Total other liabilities  432.4  316.3 

44. Contingent liabilities

The Group is involved in various legal and arbitration proceedings in the course of normal business 
operations. The Group establishes provisions for current and threatened pending legal proceedings if 
management is of the opinion that the Group is more likely than not to face payments or losses and if the 
amount of such payments or losses can be reasonably estimated.

The following contingent liabilities that management is aware of are related to legal proceedings which 
could have a material effect on the Group. However, it is not expected that any of these contingent 
liabilities will result in material provisions or other liabilities.

The Group is engaged in litigation proceedings mentioned below and is vigorously defending the cases 
and believes it has strong defences to the claims. The Group does not expect the ultimate resolution of 
any of the below mentioned proceedings to which the Group is party to have a significantly adverse effect 
on its financial position.

Where these proceedings are fully provided see note 42 related to Provisions.

The	Group	is	engaged	in	litigation	proceedings	in	Switzerland	linked	to	fraudulently	approved	contracts	
where claims have been brought against the Group for a net exposure of approximately EUR 23 million 
plus accrued interest. The evidentiary portion of the proceeding has been completed and the outcome is 
uncertain. The Group continues to believe that it has good defences to this claim and continues to defend 
it vigorously.

Several entities in the Group have been named as defendants in lawsuits by the liquidators of Fairfield 
Sentry Ltd. and Fairfied Sigma Ltd. in the US Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York 
and in the High Court of Justice of the British Virgin Islands, asserting that redemption payments received 
by the Group entities on behalf of clients should be returned to Fairfield Sentry Ltd. and Fairfield Sigma 
Ltd. The amount claimed is uncertain, but the Group believes the amount claimed is approximately USD 
160 million. The Group entities are vigorously defending the cases and believe they have strong defences 
to the claims.
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The Trustee of Bernard L, Madoff Investment Securities LLC (“BLMIS”) has filed a complaint in the US 
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York asserting that redemption payments totalling 
USD 355 million allegedly received by certain Group entities on behalf of clients through Fairfield and 
Kingate feeder funds should be returned to BLMIS. This action includes the redemptions claimed by the 
Fairfield liquidator (see previous paragraph). The Group entities are vigorously defending the cases and 
believe they have strong defences to the claims.

The Group is engaged in litigation proceedings initiated by a client claiming that he has been misled 
insofar as he thought that his investments were capital protected, the agreed investment strategy has not 
been followed and unauthorised transactions were performed. The amount claimed is approximately 
CHF 57 million plus interest at 5%. The Group entities are vigorously defending the cases and believe 
they have strong defences to the claims.

The Group is engaged in litigation proceedings initiated by a former employee. He claims on grounds of 
a series of agreements an amount of SEK 36 million and an amount of CHF 10.5 million. The Group 
entities are vigorously defending the cases and believe they have strong defences to the claims.

Two Group entities are engaged in litigation proceedings initiated by the trustee of a trust for which a 
Group entity previously acted as trustee. The trustee bases its claim on various legal arguments, mainly 
breach of trust, gross negligence and dishonest assistance. The amount claimed amounts to GBP 7 million. 
The concerned Group entities are vigorously defending the case and believe they have strong defences to 
the claims.

The following contingent liability that management is aware of is related to obligations which may result 
in outflows, but which cannot be reliably estimated, however management believe that this matter will 
not have a material financial effect on the Group.

The Swiss Federal Supreme Court decided on the question whether trailer fees and similar compensations, 
commonly referred to as “retrocessions”, paid for the distribution/placement of financial products such 
as investment funds and structured products, belong to the client in a situation where the distributor is 
in a discretionary asset management relationship with the client. Pursuant to the Supreme Court ruling, 
distributors may not retain such retrocessions where a distributor has a discretionary asset management 
relationship with a client, unless such client validly waived its right to receive such retrocessions in a 
qualified manner. In doctrine it is disputed whether the statute of limitations for a client’s claim for 
forwarding of retrocessions received in the past is five or ten years from receipt of the retrocession by 
the distributor or even longer. As a result of the decision and including the strict requirements for valid 
waivers, clients of the Group may seek to claim restitution of such retrocessions from the Group, which 
could impact its profitability. The effect of the decision on the Group’s profitability will ultimately depend 
on a number of factors which cannot be predicted with certainty. As a result, the Group does not believe 
it can reliably estimate the potential outflows that it may incur. The Group does not believe that the 
financial effect on the Group of the Supreme Court decision will be material.

45. Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates three plans which under IFRS are classified as defined benefit plans. These plans are 
in	Switzerland	(“the	Switzerland	plans”)	and	include	one	for	EFG	Bank	European	Financial	Group	SA	
and EFG Bank AG and one for EFG Financial Products, and the Channel Islands (“the Channel Islands 
plan”).	 The	 Switzerland	 plans	 are	 considered	 as	 defined	 benefit	 plans	 under	 IFRS	 due	 to	 a	minimum	
guaranteed return in Swiss pension legislation, the Group having no obligation relative to these funds 
other than to provide the minimum guaranteed return.
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45. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The Group operates a defined benefit plan in the Channel Islands (“the Channel Islands plan”) which is 
not	aggregated	with	the	plan	in	Switzerland	(“the	Switzerland	plan”),	due	to	its	relative	size.	The	Channel	
Islands plan has funded obligations of CHF 4.5 million; the fair value of plan assets is CHF 4.6 million.

The	disclosure	below	relates	to	the	Switzerland	plans.

The Group applies the corridor approach, whereby actuarial gains and losses are recognised over the 
remaining working lives of the employees as income or expense, if the net cumulative actuarial gains 
and losses exceed the greater of 10% of the defined benefit obligation and 10% of the fair value of any 
pension plan assets.

The Switzerland plan

The movement in the present value of the funded obligation, is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  196.4  184.6 
Service cost  9.4  9.8 
Employees contributions  7.3  7.4 
Benefit payments  (21.1)  (3.8)
Interest cost  5.3  5.4 
Settlements  -  (3.0)
Pension transfers  (2.6)  (3.1)
Plan amendments  (1.1)  - 
Actuarial (loss) / gain for the year  8.4  (0.9)

At December 31  202.0  196.4 

The movement in the fair value of the plan assets, is as follows:

At January 1  178.2  165.4 

Employee's contributions  7.3  7.4 
Employer's contributions  15.5  14.4 
Benefit payments  (21.1)  (3.8)
Expected return on plan assets  5.4  6.7 
Actuarial gain / (loss) for the year  6.8  (6.0)
Settlements  -  (2.8)
Pension transfers  (2.6)  (3.1)

At December 31  189.5  178.2 

The movement in liability is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Present value of funded obligation  202.0  196.4 
Fair value of plan assets  (189.5)  (178.2)

Deficit  12.5  18.2 

Unrecognised actuarial loss  (33.4)  (32.6)

Net asset recognised in balance sheet  (20.9)  (14.4)

Plan assets of CHF 3.7 million (2011: CHF 3.7 million) have been pledged as collateral to third parties 
who have provided employees with mortgages for financing their main residence.
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The movement in net asset recognised in balance sheet is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  (14.4)  (8.8)
Net periodic pension cost  9.0  8.8 
Employer's contributions  (15.5)  (14.4)

At December 31  (20.9)  (14.4)

The movement in unrecognised actuarial loss is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

At January 1  32.6  28.0 
Actuarial loss / (gain) for the year arising on defined benefit obligation  8.4  (0.9)
Actuarial (gain) / loss arising on the plan assets  (6.8)  6.0 
Amortisation of the corridor's variance  (0.8)  (0.5)

At December 31  33.4  32.6 

The movement recognised in the Statement of Income, is as follows:

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012 2011

Service cost  9.4  9.8 
Interest cost  5.3  5.4 
Expected return on plan assets  (5.4)  (6.7)
Settlements net of curtailments  -  (0.2)
Past service cost  (1.1)  - 
Amortisation of the corridor's variance  0.8  0.5 

Total net periodic pension cost (note 13)  9.0  8.8 

The asset allocation is as follows:
Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Debt instruments 55.9% 62.6%
Equity instruments 23.8% 25.2%
Cash 19.2% 11.4%
Other 1.1% 0.8%

100.0% 100.0%

The actual return on plan assets was CHF 12.2 million in 2012 (2011: CHF 0.8 million).

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2009 Dec. 31, 2008

Present value of Defined benefit obligation  202.0  196.4  184.6  182.4  189.0 
Fair value of plan assets  189.5  178.2  165.4  163.1  167.3 
Funded status: (Underfunding) / Surplus  (12.5)  (18.2)  (19.2)  (19.3)  (21.7)
Experience adjustments on plan assets  6.8  (6.0)  (7.9)  (8.3)  (21.6)
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities  8.4  (0.9)  (1.1)  (3.6)  (4.6)
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45. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The principal annual actuarial assumptions used, were as follows:
Dec 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2011

Discount rate (p.a.) 1.90% 2.75%
Expected return on plan assets (p.a.) 3.00% 3.00%
Future salary increases (p.a.) 1.00% 1.00%
Future pension increases (p.a.) 0.00% 0.00%
Turnover (average) (p.a.) 15.00% 15.00%
Retirement age (Male/Female) 65/64 65/64

The assumptions regarding expected mortality rates are set based on advice, published statistics and 
experience. The average life expectancy at December 31, 2012 (based on the average age of 69.1) for 
current male pensioners is 16.2 years and for current female pensioners (based on the average age of 69.3) 
is 18.2 years (based on the LPP 2010 tables).

The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the 
assets underlying the current investment policy.

Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the balance 
sheet date. Expected returns on equity and real estate investments reflect long-term real rates of return 
experienced in the respective markets.

The expected employer contributions to the post-employment benefit plan for the year ending 
December 31, 2013 are CHF 14.5 million.

46. Share capital

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011
Number of 

shares 
in 000’s

Total nominal 
value in 

CHF 000’s

Number of 
shares 

in 000’s

Total nominal 
value in 

CHF 000’s

Authorised, issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares  900,000  250,000  900,000  250,000 

Total share capital  900,000  250,000  900,000  250,000 

46.1 Treasury shares of quoted subsidiary

EFG International held its own shares representing 0.2% of its share capital (2011: 8.4%). The shares 
were acquired at a total cost of CHF 1.9 million (2011: CHF 203 million).

The Group’s shareholders’ equity has been reduced by the total cost of own shares purchased.

47. Information related to non-controlling interests

As at December 31, 2012, included within non-controlling interests are other shareholders of the Bank in 
EFG International (see Note 33) CHF 389.1 million (2011: CHF 230.6 million), non-controlling interests 
in subsidiary of EFG International CHF 104.3 million (2011: CHF 24.6 million) and CHF 319.8 million 
(2011: CHF 486.3 million) of Bons de Participation issued by EFG International.
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48. Off balance sheet items

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Guarantees issued in favour of third parties  292.8  328.4 
Irrevocable commitments  219.8  130.4 
Operating lease commitments  110.7  172.4 

Total  623.3  631.2 

The following table summarises the Group’s off balance sheet items by maturity:

Dec. 31, 2012

(All figures in millions of CHF)
Not later than 

1 year 1 - 5 years Over 5 years Total

Guarantees issued in favour of third parties  150.7  77.2  64.9  292.8 
Irrevocable commitments  65.2  149.3  5.3  219.8 
Operating lease commitments  29.7  57.8  23.2  110.7 

Total  245.6  284.3  93.4  623.3 

Dec. 31, 2011

Guarantees issued in favour of third parties  189.9  68.7  69.8  328.4 
Irrevocable commitments  29.1  101.3  -  130.4 
Operating lease commitments  70.2  74.3  27.9  172.4 

Total  289.2  244.3  97.7  631.2 

The financial guarantees maturities are based on the earliest contractual maturity date. The irrevocable 
commitments maturities are based on the dates on which loan commitments made to customers will cease 
to exist. Where a Group company is the lessee, the future minimum operating lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases is disclosed in the table above.

49. Fiduciary transactions

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Fiduciary transactions with third party banks  2,038.3  2,641.4 
Loans and other fiduciary transactions  5.2  5.1 

Total  2,043.5  2,646.5 

50. Segmental reporting

The Group’s segmental reporting is based on how internal management reviews the performance of 
the Group’s operations. The primary split is between Private Banking and Wealth Management, Asset 
Management, Financial Products and Holding and Other operations.

The Private Banking and Wealth Management business is managed on a regional basis and is split into 
Continental Europe, America’s, United Kingdom and Asia. The Continental Europe region includes 
private	banking	operations	in	Switzerland	(disclosed	separately	below	due	to	its	relative	size)	and	Rest	of	
Europe comprising, France, Gibraltar, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Monaco, On Finance, Spain, Sweden 
and the PRS business. The America’s region includes United States of America, Canada, Bahamas and 
Cayman. The Asian region includes Hong Kong, Singapore and Taiwan.
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50. Segmental reporting (continued)

The Asset Management segment includes EFG Asset Management business in all locations as it operates 
on a global basis. The Financial Products business is considered as a separate reportable segment.

Holding and other operations comprises mainly investing activities.

The basis for expense allocation between segments follows the arm’s length principle.

In 2012 the Corporate Centre took responsibility for managing the Life insurance policy related, certain 
investment portfolios, funding costs (including funding costs from EFG Financial Products), global brand 
related marketing and Swiss back-office and IT functions used on a global basis.

The comparatives for December 31, 2011 have been adjusted to reflect the composition of the segments 
resulting from changes in the structure of the internal organisation.

(All figures in millions of CHF) Private Banking and Wealth management

Asset 
Manage-

ment
Financial 
Products

Cor-
porate 
Over-
heads

Hold-
ing and 
Other

Elimina-
tions * Total

At December 31, 2012
Switzer-

land
Rest of 
Europe Americas

United 
Kingdom Asia Total

Segment revenue from external customers  157.3  122.8  113.0  154.1  109.2  656.4  72.7  125.5  21.9 4.1  (50.5) 830.1
Segment expenses  (125.8)  (100.4)  (77.4)  (107.8)  (73.3)  (484.7)  (30.4)  (92.9)  (40.7)  (5.0)  15.5  (638.2)
Tangible assets and software depreciation  (1.6)  (2.2)  (1.4)  (1.6)  (1.9)  (8.7)  (0.1)  (9.3)  (4.1)  -  -  (22.2)

Total operating margin  29.9  20.2  34.2  44.7  34.0  163.0  42.2  23.3  (22.9) (0.9)  (35.0) 169.7

Cost to acquire intangible assets and 
impairment of intangible assets  (0.1)  (4.0)  (0.4)  (1.8)  -  (6.3)  -  -  -  -  -  (6.3)
(Impairment) / reversal of impairment on 
loans and advances to customers  (0.1)  (2.5)  (0.5)  (1.3)  -  (4.4)  -  -  -  (214.8)  -  (219.2)
Provision for restructuring costs  -  (12.0)  -  -  0.3  (11.7)  -  -  -  -  -  (11.7)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  -  0.1  -  -  (1.8)  (1.7)  -  -  -  -  -  (1.7)
Currency translation loss transferred from 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income  -  (0.9)  -  -  (2.4)  (3.3)  -  -  -  -  -  (3.3)
Segment profit / (loss) before tax 29.7 0.9 33.3 41.6 30.1  135.6  42.2  23.3  (22.9)  (215.7)  (35.0)  (72.5)
Income tax (expense) / gain  (3.1)  0.9  (2.4)  (3.1)  (4.6)  (12.3)  (6.6)  (1.5)  0.3  (0.5)  -  (20.6)

Net profit / (loss) for the period 26.6 1.8 30.9 38.5 25.5  123.3  35.6  21.8  (22.6)  (216.2)  (35.0)  (93.1)

Net loss / (profit) attributable to non-
controlling interests  -  (0.3)  -  -  0.2  (0.1)  (0.9)  (11.7)  -  (48.4) -  (61.1)

Net profit / (loss) attributable to owners 
of the Group 26.6 1.5 30.9 38.5 25.7  123.2  34.7  10.1  (22.6)  (264.6)  (35.0)  (154.2)

Assets under management  15,788  14,678  12,093  16,359  14,380  73,298  7,364  3,505  782  -  (4,989)  79,960 
Employees  473  306  247  483  375  1,884  98  266  15  10  (3)  2,270 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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(All figures in millions of CHF) Private Banking and Wealth management

Asset 
Manage-

ment
Financial 
Products

Cor-
porate 
Over-
heads

Hold-
ing and 
Other

Elimina-
tions * Total

At December 31, 2011
Switzer-

land
Rest of 
Europe Americas

United 
Kingdom Asia Total

Segment revenue from external customers  175.3  134.4  77.2  132.6  103.3  622.8  53.8  108.9  20.9  10.6  (41.7)  775.3 
Segment expenses  (167.5)  (122.5)  (69.5)  (93.6)  (81.5)  (534.6)  (28.0)  (85.2)  (40.0)  (5.8)  13.0  (680.6)
Tangible assets and software depreciation  (6.3)  (3.6)  (2.0)  (1.5)  (2.3)  (15.7)  (0.2)  (6.1)  (4.6)  -  -  (26.6)

Total operating margin  1.5  8.3  5.7  37.5  19.5  72.5  25.6  17.6  (23.7)  4.8  (28.7)  68.1 

Cost to acquire intangible assets and 
impairment of intangible assets  (7.7)  (235.9)  (2.7)  (8.9)  (3.5)  (258.7)  -  -  -  -  -  (258.7)
(Impairment) / reversal of impairment on 
loans and advances to customers  (0.2)  -  -  (1.7)  -  (1.9)  -  -  -  -  -  (1.9)
Impairment on available-for-sale 
investment securities  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (72.5)  -  -  (72.5)
Provision for restructuring costs  -  (10.0)  -  -  - (10.0)  -  -  -  -  - (10.0)
Currency translation loss transferred from 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income  -  (10.0)  -  -  -  (10.0)  -  -  -  -  -  (10.0)
Segment (loss) / profit before tax (6.4) (247.6) 3.0 26.9 16.0 (208.1) 25.6 17.6 (96.2) 4.8 (28.7) (285.0)
Income tax (expense) / gain  (7.1)  13.3  (0.2)  (4.4)  (3.3)  (1.7)  4.6  (2.2)  (2.8)  (0.4)  -  (2.5)

Net profit / (loss) for the period (13.5) (234.3) 2.8 22.5 12.7 (209.8) 30.2 15.4 (99.0) 4.4 (28.7) (287.5)

Net loss / (profit) attributable to non-
controlling interests  -  5.4  -  -  0.2  5.6  (0.5)  (7.8)  - 135.5  - 132.8

Net (loss) / profit attributable to owners of 
the Group (13.5) (228.9) 2.8 22.5 12.9 (204.2) 29.7 7.6 (99.0) 139.9 (28.7) (154.7)

Assets under management  15,898  17,705  11,777  14,802  14,099  74,281  5,713  3,181  651  -  (4,213)  79,613 
Employees  557  426  265  505  469  2,222  79  234  15  16  (3)  2,563 

* External revenues from clients have been recognised in both the Asset Management and Private Banking segments related to 
asset management mandates for private banking clients. This double count is eliminated to reconcile to the total operating income.
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51. Analysis of Swiss and foreign assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Dec. 31, 2012
(All figures in millions of CHF) Swiss Foreign Total

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks  1,208.2  235.1  1,443.3 
Treasury bills and other eligible bills  -  816.8  816.8 
Due from other banks  3,337.6  129.6  3,467.2 
Loans and advances to customers  2,860.2  7,614.8  10,475.0 
Derivative financial instruments  445.7  117.9  563.6 
Financial assets at fair value:
 - Trading Assets  1,340.0  50.2  1,390.2 
 - Designated at inception  -  381.4  381.4 
Investment securities:
 - Available-for-sale  35.9  3,261.9  3,297.8 
 - Held-to-maturity  48.4  1,055.4  1,103.8 
Intangible assets  114.3  180.3  294.6 
Property, plant and equipment  24.6  17.5  42.1 
Deferred income tax assets  9.0  23.1  32.1 
Other assets  425.9  155.9  581.8 

Total assets  9,849.8  14,039.9  23,889.7 

Liabilities
Due to other banks  2,599.3  (1,724.5)  874.8 
Due to customers  4,668.8  11,576.7  16,245.5 
Derivative financial instruments  534.7  194.4  729.1 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value  775.3  356.0  1,131.3 
Subordinated loans  187.5  (130.5)  57.0 
Other financial liabilities  -  2,938.1  2,938.1 
Current income tax liabilities  -  2.1  2.1 
Deferred income tax liabilities  33.5  6.8  40.3 
Provisions  -  11.5  11.5 
Other liabilities  262.0  170.4  432.4 

Total liabilities  9,061.1  13,401.0  22,462.1 

Equity
Share capital  250.0  -  250.0 
Reserves and retained earnings  1,542.0  (1,177.6)  364.4 

Total shareholders' equity  1,792.0  (1,177.6)  614.4 

Non-controlling interests  806.7  6.5  813.2 

Total shareholders' equity  2,598.69  (1,171.10)  1,427.6 

Total equity and liabilities  11,659.79  12,229.90  23,889.7 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Dec. 31, 2011
(All figures in millions of CHF) Swiss Foreign Total

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks  632.0  539.4  1,171.4 
Treasury bills and other eligible bills  50.0  773.9  823.9 
Due from other banks  5,634.3  (3,377.9)  2,256.4 
Loans and advances to customers  3,094.3  6,790.0  9,884.3 
Derivative financial instruments  411.2  126.9  538.1 
Financial assets at fair value:  -  -  - 
 - Trading assets  813.9  40.6  854.5 
 - Designated at inception  51.2  316.0  367.2 
Investment securities:  -  -  - 
 - Available-for-sale  76.9  3,907.4  3,984.3 
 - Held-to-maturity  48.8  1,059.7  1,108.5 
Intangible assets  105.7  194.9  300.6 
Property, plant and equipment  24.6  22.7  47.3 
Deferred income tax assets  19.3  29.3  48.6 
Other assets  85.0  109.3  194.2 

Total assets  11,047.2  10,532.2  21,579.3 

Liabilities
Due to other banks  3,559.0  (2,786.5)  772.5 
Due to customers  3,657.2  10,889.0  14,546.2 
Derivative financial instruments  548.6  54.8  603.4 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value  168.3  322.4  490.7 
Other financial liabilities  2,987.2  369.3  3,356.5 
Current income tax liabilities  7.1  4.3  11.4 
Deferred income tax liabilities  30.9  6.7  37.6 
Provisions  16.2  21.1  37.3 
Other liabilities  191.1  125.2  316.3 

Total liabilities  11,165.6  9,006.3  20,171.9 

Equity
Share capital  250.0  -  250.0 
Reserves and retained earnings  784.6  (368.7)  415.9 

Total shareholders' equity  1,034.6  (368.7)  665.9 

Non-controlling interests  735.9  5.6  741.5 

Total shareholders' equity  1,770.5  (363.1)  1,407.4 

Total equity and liabilities  12,936.1  8,643.2  21,579.3 
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52. Related party transactions

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012

Assets
Loans and advances to customers  11.5 

Liabilities
Due to customers  95.8 

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2012

Income Statement
Interest income  0.1 
Commission income  0.9 
Other operating expenses  (0.1)
Impairment on loans and advances to customers  (214.8)

Guarantee issued  0.7 

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec. 31, 2011

Assets
Loans and advances to customers  303.4 

Liabilities
Due to customers  79.5 

(All figures in millions of CHF) 2011

Income Statement
Interest income  6.7 
Commission income  0.9 

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties. These include loan, deposits, 
derivatives transactions and provisions of services.

Related parties comprise affiliated companies and directors, key members of the management of the 
company, its parents and EFG International AG as well as closely linked parties and companies controlled 
by these people.

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2011. Nil).

Key management compensation

Key management personnel of the Group and its subsidiaries are entitled to compensations amounting 
to CHF 9.9 million (December 31, 2011: CHF 14.5 million) and restricted stock units valued at 
approximately CHF 1.8 million (December 31, 2011: CHF 0.9 million). Other compensation of CHF 1.8 
million (December 31, 2011: 3.2 million) includes an amount of CHF 1.6 million representing a pro rata 
indemnity recognised over 3.5 years (2011: CHF 1.6 million).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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53. Employee equity incentive plans

The Group’s listed subsidiary EFG International grant share options to executive directors, management 
and employees. All options are equity-settled and may be exercised wholly or partly and converted into 
shares, at their owners’ option provided that the vesting requirements are met.

The expense recorded in the Statement of Income spreads the cost of the grants equally over the vesting 
period. Assumptions are made concerning the forfeiture rate which is adjusted during the vesting period 
so that at the end of the vesting period there is only a charge for vested amounts. Total expense related 
to the Plan in the Statement of Income for the period ended December 31, 2012 was CHF 12.0 million 
(2011: CHF 15.5 million).

EFG International granted 1,100,381 options and restricted stock units in 2012. There are two classes of 
restricted stock units. Those with a 3 year lock-up (“Restricted stock units with 3 year lock-up”) vesting 
pro-rata temporis over 3 years with one third each year and with a 5 year lock-up (“Restricted stock units 
with 5 year lock-up”) vesting over 3 years. The deemed value of each restricted stock unit with 3 year 
lock-up is CHF 7.46 and each Restricted stock unit with 5 year lock-up is CHF 6.84. The values of the 
restricted stock units were determined using a model which takes into account the present value of the 
expected dividends during the period between the grant date and the earliest exercise date.

The significant inputs into the model were spot share price (CHF 8.62), dividend payout rate (30%) and 
the expected life of the restricted stock units (36 and 60 months). Dividend yield has been calculated 
according to management’s estimates of the long term dividend payments.

54. Assets under management and assets under administration

Character of client assets

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2011

Equities  17,949  18,334 
Deposits  17,621  17,037 
Bonds  16,223  14,730 
Loans  10,946  10,096 
Structured notes  6,141  6,920 
Hedge funds / Fund of hedge funds  4,403  5,045 
Fiduciary deposits  2,068  2,846 
EFG International shares  790  654 
Other  3,820  3,951 

Total Assets under Management  79,960  79,613 

Total Assets under Administration  8,295  9,162 

Total Assets under Management and Administration  88,255  88,775 

Assets under Administration are trust assets administered by the Group.
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54. Assets under management and assets under administration (continued)

Assets under Management

(All figures in millions of CHF) Dec 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2011

Character of assets under management:
Assets in own administrated collective investment schemes  2,755  2,172 
Assets with discretionary management agreements  15,157  15,350 
Other assets under management  51,102 51,995

Total Assets under Management (including double counts)  69,014  69,517 

Thereof double counts  2,717  3,462 

Loans  10,946  10,096 

Assets under Administration  8,295  9,162 

Total Assets under Management and Administration  88,255  88,775 

Net new asset inflows / (outflows) (including double counts)  205  (1,207)

Double counts primarily include the self-managed collective investment schemes and structured products 
issued by Group companies which are also included in customer portfolios and already included in assets 
under management.

Net new assets consists of new client acquisitions, client departures and inflows or outflows attributable 
to existing clients (whether in cash or securities). New or repaid client loans and overdrafts, and related 
interest expenses result in net new assets. Interest and dividend income from assets under management, 
market or currency movements as well as fees and commissions are not included in net new assets. Effects 
resulting from any acquisition or disposal of Group companies are not included in net new assets.

55. Post balance sheet events

On January 16, 2013 the EFG International Group announced that CHF 180 million of subordinated 
Basel III compliant Tier 2 notes issued by EFG Funding (Guernsey) Limited and guaranteed by 
EFG International AG on a subordinated basis were placed with institutional and private investors. The 
notes carry a coupon of 4.75% and include an optional redemption call in year 5 and on every subsequent 
interest payment date up to the final maturity on January 31, 2023, subject to FINMA approval.

On January 28, 2013 the Group announced that a wholly owned subsidiary EFG Funding (Guernsey) 
Limited (“EFG Funding”) had acquired from holders of EFG Fiduciary Certificates for cash EUR 
251,399,000 in aggregate principal amount of EFG Fiduciary Certificates for approximately CHF 189 
million. The settlement date for the offer was January 31, 2013.

On February 19, 2013 the EFG International Group disposed of On Finance SA for its net asset value.

On March 12, 2013 the EFG International Group announced the sale to Notenstein Private Bank, subject 
to regulatory approvals, of its remaining stake of 20.25% in EFG Financial Products for CHF 70.2 million 
(CHF 52 per share, compared with the IPO price of CHF 45). The transaction is expected to complete 
during the first half of 2013.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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56. Swiss banking law requirements

The Group is subject to consolidated supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority 
(FINMA). The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Set out below are the deviations which would result if 
the provisions of the Banking Ordinance and the Guidelines of the FINMA governing financial statement 
reporting, pursuant to Article 23 through Article 27 of the Banking Federal Ordinance, were applied in 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

(a) Financial investments

Under IFRS, available-for-sale financial investments are carried at fair value. Changes in the fair value 
of available-for-sale financial investments are recorded as increases or decreases to shareholders’ equity 
(refer to consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income) until an investment is sold, collected or 
otherwise disposed of, or until an investment is determined to be impaired. At the time an available-for-
sale	investment	is	determined	to	be	impaired,	the	cumulative	unrealized	gain	or	loss	previously	recognised	
as Other Comprehensive Income is included in the Statement of Income for the period. On disposal of 
an available-for-sale investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount, 
including any previously recognised unrealised gain or loss arising from a change in fair value reported as 
Other Comprehensive Income, is included in the Statement of Income for the period.

Under Swiss law, financial investments are carried at the lower of cost or market value and accrual 
method. Reductions and subsequent increases (up to cost) of value are included in other ordinary income 
and gains or losses on disposals, are included as net gain or loss from disposals of investment securities.

(b) Fair value option

Under IFRS, the Group has two sub-categories of financial assets, those held for trading, and those 
designated as air value through profit and loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management.

Under Swiss law, all such assets are considered as trading when there is a liquid and efficient market 
and are marked to market (or marked to model). When no such market exists, these assets are carried 
at the lower of cost or fair value. Hybrid instruments are bifurcated: the embedded derivative is marked 
to market through net trading income and the host contract is accounted for on an accrued cost basis. 
No own credit adjustments are booked for hybrid instruments. Generally, loans are accounted for at 
amortized	 cost	 less	 impairment,	 loan	 commitments	 stay	 off-balance	 sheet	 and	 fund	 investments	 are	
accounted for as financial investments.

(c) Derivative financial instruments

Under the specific rules of IAS 39, the majority of the Group’s derivative financial instruments are 
classified as trading and reflected on the balance sheet at fair values. Changes in fair values are reflected in 
net trading income and replacement values are reported on a gross basis, unless certain restrictive netting 
requirements are met.

Under Swiss law, the majority of the Group’s derivative instruments are also recorded on Balance sheet 
at their fair values (gross positive and negative replacement values). Replacement values are reported on a 
net basis provided the netting agreements are legally enforceable, and changes in fair values are reflected 
as net trading income. However, when derivatives are used for hedging purposes, they are valued in 
analogous manner to that used for the hedged position.
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56. Swiss banking law requirements (continued)

(d) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Under both IFRS and under Swiss law, goodwill and intangible assets resulting from acquisitions and 
mergers	are	capitalized	in	the	balance	sheet.

Under IFRS, goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment at least annually and is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised on a systematic basis over their 
useful lives. In addition, intangible assets are tested for impairment when there is any indication that the 
asset may be impaired. Intangible assets are carried at cost less amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Under Swiss law, goodwill and intangible assets are amortised over the estimated economic life on a 
straight-line basis. The net carrying value of intangible assets is, in addition, reappraised annually, with 
any reduction to the net carrying value taken immediately as an expense in the Statement of Income.

(e) Extraordinary income and expense

Under IFRS, items of income and expense shall not be classified as extraordinary items, in the statement 
of comprehensive income or the separate income statement (if presented) or, in the notes.

Under Swiss law, non-recurring, non-operating income and expenses are considered extraordinary. Items 
related to other accounting periods are included under this caption as long as they are attributable to 
corrections or mistakes from previous periods.

(f) Discontinued operations

Under IFRS, assets and liabilities of an entity held-for-sale are separated from the ordinary balance sheet 
positions and reported in separate discontinued operations items. In addition, such assets and liabilities 
are remeasured at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less costs to sell.

Under Swiss law, these positions remain in the ordinary balance sheet positions until disposal and are not 
remeasured.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Review of the Bank’s Activities
On July 23, 2012, the EFG Group disposed of its 
controlling investment in Eurobank Ergasias SA 
(“Eurobank”), a European banking institution 
based in Athens, Greece.

As result of this disposal, Eurobank was 
deconsolidated and EFG Bank European 
Financial Group SA (or “the Bank”), which 
is	 based	 in	 Geneva,	 Switzerland,	 became	
(again) the regulated parent company of the 
EFG Group. In particular, the Bank is required 
to file all EFG Group’s consolidated regulatory 
returns starting from December 31, 2012. 
The Bank is regulated by the Swiss Financial 
Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) on both 
individual and consolidated bases

The Bank holds a direct 56% controlling interest 
in EFG International AG, a private banking 
group	 based	 in	 Zurich,	 Switzerland,	 and	 listed	
on SIX Swiss Exchange.

The Bank is both a holding company and an 
entity servicing a traditional private banking 
clientele.

Results for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 at the 
Bank’s individual level
The profit for the year 2012 decreased to 
CHF 4.3 million, compared CHF 10.0 million 
for the previous year. This mainly reflected a 
CHF 6.0 million reduction of dividend income 
from subsidiaries.

Net interest income decreased to CHF 0.8 
million, versus CHF 1.1 million for the previous 
year, essentially as a result of a decrease in 
interest rates.

Net commission income and service fees 
decreased to CHF 1.7 million, versus CHF 4.0 
million for the previous year, principally due to 
a CHF 2.3 million decrease in net administrative 
cost charge-outs to affiliates, following 
the deconsolidation of Eurobank from the 
EFG Group.

Trading income, which essentially consist in 
income on foreign exchange transactions entered 
into on behalf of clients, remained stable at 
CHF 0.3 million.

Operating expenses decreased to CHF 7.2 
million, versus CHF 9.0 million a year before, 
following the above-mentioned reduction 
in personnel and associated administrative 
expenses.

Extraordinary income of CHF 2.4 million 
reflects a partial reversal of general provision. 
Extraordinary expenses of CHF 0.6 million 
resulted from prior years’ tax computation 
adjustements.

At December 31, 2012, total assets amounted to 
CHF 746 million versus CHF 723 million a year 
ago, reflecting a CHF 21 million net increase in 
client deposits and the resulting additional cash 
held with third-party banks, and the profit for 
the year.

Proposal for the appropriation 
of available earnings as 
at December 31, 2012
With the inclusion of the balance brought 
forward of CHF 46,487, the available 
earnings at December 31, 2012 amounted to  
CHF 4,304,529.

The Board of Directors proposes that this 
amount be appropriated as follows:

CHF

Allocation to general legal reserve 300,000

Dividend to shareholder 3,000,000

Allocation to other reserves 1,000,000

Retained earnings carried forward 4,529
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Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of EFG Bank European Financial Group 
SA, which comprise the statement of income, balance sheet and notes (pages 94 to 103), for the year 
ended December 31, 2012.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The 
Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant 
to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 comply with Swiss law 
and the company’s articles of incorporation.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight 
Act (AOA) and independence (art. 728 CO and art. 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances 
incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that 
an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and 
the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you 
be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Alex	Astolfi	 	 Christophe	Kratzer 
Audit expert  Audit expert 
Auditor in charge

Geneva, April 25, 2013

Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting of
the Shareholders of EFG Bank European Financial Group SA
on the financial statements
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Statement of Income
for the year ended December 31, 2012

(All figures in thousands of CHF) Notes 2012 2011

Interest income
Interest and discount income 672 949
Interest and dividend income from financial investments 200 177
Interest expenses (61) (56)

Net interest income 811 1,070

Commission and service fee income
Commission income from lending activities 38 28
Commission and fee income from securities and investment activities 1,786 2,036
Commission and fee income from other services 1,551 4,708
of which central costs recharged to subsidiaries 11 1,036 4,131
Commission expenses (1,676) (2,810)
of which service fees recharged by subsidiaries 11 (1,546) (1,948)

Net commission and service fee income 1,699 3,962

Income from trading activities, net 10 312 283

Other ordinary income
Income from investments in subsidiaries 6,849 12,849
Real estate income 618 596
Other ordinary income 2 2

Net other ordinary income 7,469 13,447

Total operating income 10,291 18,762

Operating expenses
Personnel expenses (4,736) (5,656)
Other operating expenses (2,477) (3,303)
of which outsourced services by subsidiaries 11 (991) (996)

Total operating expenses (7,213) (8,959)

Gross operating profit 3,078 9,803

Depreciation of fixed assets (40) (47)
Valuation adjustments, provisions and losses (27) (7)

Net profit before extraordinary items and tax 3,011 9,749

Extraordinary income  2,402 681
Extraordinary expenses 14 (604) (1)
Taxes 14 (551) (384)

Net profit for the year 4,258 10,045
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Balance Sheet
as at December 31, 2012

Assets

(All figures in thousands of CHF) Notes Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Cash 78,953 92,173
Due from banks 83,393 45,795
Due from clients 40,342 42,231
Mortgage loans 585 630
Financial investments 10,074 9,989
Investments in subsidiaries 522,442 522,541
Fixed assets 9,073 9,113
Accrued income and prepaid expenses 373 374
Other assets 13 418 617

Total assets 745,653 723,463

Of which amounts receivable from subsidiaries or significant shareholders 10,949 8,276

Liabilities

Money market instruments 227 1,470
Due to banks 521 267
Due to clients in form of savings or deposit accounts 3,981 3,924
Other amounts due to clients 166,418 145,797
Accrued expenses and deferred income 800 527
Other liabilities 13 799 429
Valuation adjustments and provisions 7 37,807 83,207

Total liabilities 210,553 235,621

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 8 250,000 250,000
Reserve for general banking risks 6,7 53,345 10,345
General legal reserve 23,000 22,400
Other reserves 204,450 195,050
Retained earnings brought forward 47 2
Net profit for the year 4,258 10,045

Total shareholders' equity 6 535,100 487,842

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 745,653 723,463

Of which liabilities to subsidiaries or significant shareholders 54,402 41,392
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Off-Balance Sheet Positions
as at December 31, 2012

(All figures in thousands of CHF) Notes Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Contingent liabilities 6,360 6,047

Irrevocables commitments 502 494

Derivative financial instruments
Positive gross replacement values 397 566
Negative gross replacement values 499 88
Underlying contract volumes 19,655 29,963

Fiduciary transactions 9 286,927 391,817
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1. Activity description

EFG Bank European Financial Group SA (or “the 
Bank”),	which	is	based	in	Geneva,	Switzerland,	is	
the regulated parent company of the EFG Group. 
It holds a direct controlling interest in 
EFG International AG, a private banking group, 
based	 in	Zurich,	 Switzerland,	 and	 listed	 on	 SIX	
Swiss Exchange. The Bank is regulated by the 
Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority 
(FINMA) on both individual and consolidated 
bases. Its activities consist of on the one end, as a 
holding company, administrative tasks related to 
the consolidated supervision of the EFG Group 
exercised by the FINMA at the level of the Bank 
and on the other hand, as a bank, servicing a 
traditional private banking clientele, using the 
operating platform of its Swiss indirect banking 
subsidiary, EFG Bank AG.

At December 31, 2012, the number of people 
employed by the Bank was 10.5 on a full time 
basis (2011: 17).

2. Accounting Principles, Risk 
Management and Outsourced Activities

(a) Accounting Principles

The statutory financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the accounting 
and valuation principles laid down in the 
Swiss Code of Obligations, the Swiss Banking 
Ordinance and the Directives from the Swiss 
Federal Financial Market Supervisory Authority 
(FINMA) on Accounting Standards applicable to 
banks (Circ. FINMA 2008/02). These principles 
require that the statutory financial statements 
show a prudent view of the financial position 
and result of operations.

Transaction recording and presentation in the 
balance

All transactions of the Bank are entered into 
its books on the day they are transacted. The 
balance sheet is prepared according to the 
following principles: securities transactions, 
as well as payments, are entered in the balance 
sheet on the day of transaction; deposits and 
loans, as well as spot and forward foreign 

exchange transactions, are entered in the balance 
sheet on their respective value dates.

Cash and money market instruments

Such assets are recorded in the balance sheet at 
their nominal value.

Balances due from banks and clients, and 
mortgages

These are stated at nominal value, net of specific 
provisions in respect of doubtful receivables.

Financial investments

These securities are held on a medium (available 
for sale) or long (held to maturity) term basis. 
Bonds held for the medium term are valued at 
the lower of cost or market value. Bonds held for 
the long-term are valued under the straight-line 
method. Equities are valued at the lower of cost 
or market/fair value.

Reductions in market value below cost are 
recorded in the statement of income under 
“Other ordinary expenses”. Any subsequent 
increases in market value of previously written-
down financial investments up to initial cost 
are recorded in the statement of income under 
“Other ordinary income”.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets comprise buildings owned by 
the Bank, fixtures and fittings, computer and 
telecommunication equipment, and other office 
equipment, the purchase cost of which, or the 
project they relate to, exceeds CHF 10,000. 
Purchases below this threshold are expensed.

Buildings are recorded in the balance sheet at 
their acquisition price.

Other fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful economic 
life, which are as follows:

-	 Fixture and fittings: between 5 and 10 years;

-	 Computer and telecommunication equipment: 
between 3 and 4 years;

-	 Other fixed assets: between 5 and 10 years.

Notes to the financial statements
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Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at their 
total cost, less any write-downs to reflect any 
impairment in the total value of the underlying 
investments taken as a whole.

Valuation adjustments and provisions

Value of assets, including loans, is adjusted when 
a prolonged impairment in value of these assets 
is identified, in accordance with the general 
principle of prudence. In addition, loans are 
risk-evaluated according to the domicile of the 
risk. Specific provisions in respect of doubtful 
receivables are netted against corresponding 
assets.

Provisions are set up to cover each additional 
probable material liability that has been 
identified in respect of situations existing at the 
date of the balance sheet, in accordance with the 
general principle of prudence.

In addition, a general provision may be set up 
for undetermined risks. The general provision is 
considered, according to Art. 24 sct (1) par. b of 
the Swiss Capital Adequacy Ordinance, as Tier 2 
regulatory capital.

Taxes

Provisions are set up for income tax due, but not 
yet paid, and included in the balance sheet under 
“Accrued expenses and deferred income”.

Reserve for general banking risks

The reserve for general banking risks is 
considered as part of the shareholders’ equity 
of the Bank and, according to Art. 18 of the 
Swiss Capital Adequacy Ordinance, as Common 
Equity Tier 1 regulatory capital.

Foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies on the balance sheet are translated 
into Swiss francs at the year-end market 
exchange rates.

Transactions in foreign currency are translated 
into Swiss francs at the rates prevailing on the 
date of the transactions.

Foreign currency positions are marked to market 
and the result taken to the statement of income. 
Currency swaps used for hedging balance sheet 
items in foreign currency, which are accounted 
for using the accrual method, are also valued 
under the accrual method.

The year-end exchanges rates of the main 
currencies against the Swiss franc were as 
follows:

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

EUR 1.2076 1.2158

USD 0.9154 0.9398

GBP 1.4808 1.4510

Derivative financial instruments

The term “derivative financial instruments” 
incorporates interest rate, currency, equity (or 
indices), precious metals and other commodities 
which are traded (whether through an exchange 
or over-the-counter) in the form of forward 
contracts, options, swaps or futures.

Positions resulting from transactions entered 
into on a proprietary basis or on behalf of 
clients are marked to market and the result 
included in the statement of income under 
“Income from trading activities”, except certain 
transactions entered into for hedging purposes 
which may require a different treatment (see 
below). The market value of derivative contracts 
undertaken for the Bank’s own account or on 
behalf of clients corresponds to the replacement 
value of these contracts. Positive and negative 
replacement values are included in the balance 
sheet under “Other assets” and “Other 
liabilities” respectively and are not netted, unless 
proper netting agreements are in place with 
counterparties.

Hedging transactions are valued and recognised 
to the statement of income using the same 
methodology as used for the underlying 
transactions.

(b) Risk Management

The activity of the Bank consists of, on 
the one hand, carrying out supervision of 
subsidiaries and, on the other hand, providing 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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traditional private banking services using 
the operating platform of its Swiss indirect 
subsidiary, EFG Bank AG, whereby most of 
the transactions are entered into on behalf of 
clients. The Bank maintains only relatively small 
proprietary positions, usually for asset and 
liability management purposes. The policy of 
the Bank regarding market, credit and liquidity 
risks, as well as the use of derivatives, is set in 
this context.

The operational infrastructure provided by 
EFG Bank AG comprises the Accounting, 
Treasury, Risk Management, Private Banking 
(partly), Back Office, Legal and Compliance, 
Credit, IT and Logistics departments of 
EFG Bank AG, which also work on behalf of the 
Bank.

Written regulations and directives are issued 
by the Management (and approved, where 
appropriate, by the Board of Directors) 
concerning credit and market risks, the 
approval and supervisory procedure for credits, 
liquidity monitoring and the mitigation of 
operational risks associated with private 
banking transactions, back-office processes, fund 
transfers, recording of transactions, legal and 
compliance aspects, and information technology.

Market risk

Market risk limits are determined by the risk 
policy framework approved by the Board of 
Directors.

As regards interest rate risk, the Bank limits 
its balance sheet-related exposure by a 
policy of matched refinancing. It is not the 
Bank’s policy to engage in active interest rate 
trading. The risk associated with interest rate 
variation is monitored on a monthly basis by 
the Management based on aggregated interest 
positions provided by the Risk Management 
department, on a daily basis by the Treasury 
department based on ongoing positions held at 
the trading desk.

The Bank carries out foreign currency 
transactions both for its clients and on its own 
account. It is not part of the Bank’s policy, 
however, to take significant foreign currency 
positions. The overall net nominal positions per 

currency are subject to intraday and overnight 
limits. The total intraday foreign exchange 
position is monitored by the Risk Management 
department based on random checks. The total 
overnight foreign exchange position is monitored 
on a daily basis by the Management and the 
Risk Management department.

The low usage of derivatives is part of the 
prudent risk management policy followed by the 
Bank.

Market risks are managed using “value-at-risk”, 
scenario analysis and stress testing.

Liquidity risk

The	 size	 of	 the	 Bank’s	 capital	 and	 reserves	 and	
its matched refinancing policy ensure that it 
avoids incurring any significant liquidity risk. 
In addition, liquidity is supervised on a daily 
basis by the Accounting department, under 
the supervision of the Risk Management 
department, based on positions held at the 
treasury desk.

Credit risk

Due to the private banking nature of the activity, 
most of the credit exposure towards clients is 
secured by liquid assets pledged as collateral. 
Discount factors and diversification rules 
apply when determining the loanable value of 
assets pledged as collateral. Most of the assets 
pledged as collateral are valued daily, and 
more frequently during periods of high market 
volatility.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, 
the Bank has credit exposure to reputable 
banking and brokerage counterparties.

Credit risk management is carried out at two 
levels. On the one hand, the granting and 
renewal of credit limits to customers are subject 
to a procedure involving different levels of 
approval (Credit Department, Credit Committee 
and Board of Directors) according to the amount 
and type of collateral involved. Responsibility 
for the approval of limits in favour of banking 
counterparties resides primarily with the Board 
of Directors. On the other hand, outstanding 
credit commitments, limits and adequacy 
of collateral of each borrower (or group of 
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borrowers), large exposures and country risk are 
monitored on an ongoing and independent basis 
by the Credit Administration department.

Furthermore, an internal grading system enables 
to determine any provisioning requirement for 
doubtful debts on an individual basis.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss or business 
suspension resulting from failures in business 
processes, systems and people, or from 
external causes. It is limited by means of 
organisational measures, automations, internal 
controls, security measures, authorisation 
frameworks, written operating procedures, 
legal documentation and support, and 
compliance checks under the responsibility 
of the Management. In addition, operational 
statistics are produced for the attention of the 
Management.

Board-level risk assessment and monitoring

The Board of Directors, at its meeting of July 
2012, has reviewed the Bank’s annual risk 
assessments and reports, covering credit, market, 
liquidity, operational and compliance (including 
cross-border) risks.

Capital adequacy disclosures (Pillar 3)

The capital adequacy disclosures (Pillar 3) are 
published on a consolidated basis on www.
efggroup.com in conformity with the FINMA 
Circular 2008/22.

(c) Outsourced Activities

The management of certain client accounts; 
the execution, processing and settlement of 
transactions; electronic fund transfers and 
clearing; securities custody and corporate 
actions; daily risk management and control; 
compliance; IT development, operations, security 
and database and file maintenance; discretionary 
and asset management; and the printing, 
sending and/or electronic storage of advices, 
portfolio valuations and account statements have 
been outsourced to the Bank’s Swiss indirect 
subsidiary, EFG Bank AG, using common 
operating procedures and platform, but with 
distinct supervision by the Bank’s Management.

Salary and pension fund administration 
have been outsourced to a third party 
service company specialising in this area. IT 
development projects may also be outsourced on 
a case-by-case basis.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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3. Fire insurance value of fixed assets

(All figures in thousands of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Investment properties 18,706 18,493
Other tangible fixed assets 1,100 1,300

4. Pledged or assigned assets in guarantee of own liabilities

The bank has no asset pledged as collateral to its own liabilities (2011: none).

There are no repurchase agreement or reverse repurchase agreement transactions outstanding as at year 
end (2011: none).

5. Pensions

The pension schemes cover employees for retirement pension and against disability or death (in which 
case spouse and dependent children are the beneficiaries). They are run in accordance with applicable 
Swiss law and regulation on pensions. Up until December 31, 2003, retirement schemes were defined-
benefit schemes. However, on January 1, 2004, except for 5 employees aged over 51 years old for whom 
a defined-benefit scheme (insured through an insurance company) remains in place, all other retirement 
schemes became defined-contribution schemes. Generally funded by employees and employers, the 
schemes are legally independent from the Bank. Employer’s contribution expenses are booked as 
personnel expenses. The Bank has no liability.

6. Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

(All figures in thousands of CHF)
Share 

capital

General 
legal 

reserve

Reserve 
for general 

banking 
risks

Other 
reserves

Available 
earnings

Total per 
balance 

sheet

Balance at beginning of the year 250,000 22,400 10,345 195,050 10,047 487,842
Allocation to/(from) reserves - 600 - 9,400 (10,000) -
Special Allocation to/(from) reserves - -  43,000 - - 43,000
Net profit for the year - - - - 4,258 4,258

Balance at end of the year 250,000 23,000 53,345 204,450 4,305 535,100
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7. Valuation adjustments and provisions/Reserve for general banking risks

(All figures in thousands of CHF)

Balance at 
Dec. 31, 

2011
Specific 

usage

Change of 
reclassifi-
cation of 

provisions

Recov-
eries, 

doubtful 
interest, 

exch. dif-
ferences

New 
provisions 
charged to 

earnings

Reversals 
to 

earnings

Balance at 
Dec. 31, 

2012

Valuation adjustments and 
provisions for credit risks 35 -  -  (1)  -  - 34
Valuation adjustments and 
provisions for country risks 36  -  -  -  -  - 36
Other provisions 83,171  (43,000)  -  (2,400) 37,771

Total valuation adjustments and 
provisions 83,242  -  -  (1)  - (2,400) 37,841

less: valuation ajustments netted 
against assets  (35) - -  1 - -  (34)

Total valuation adjustments and 
provisions as per balance sheet 
(liabilities) 83,207 37,807

Reserve for general banking risks 10,345 -  43,000 - - - 53,345

The reserve for general banking risks has already been taxed.

8. Capital structure and significant shareholders

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

(All figures in thousands of CHF)

Total 
nominal 

value
Number of 

units

Dividend 
bearing 
capital

Total 
nominal 

value
Number 
of units

Dividend 
bearing 
capital

Capital structure
Share capital 250,000 900,000 250,000 250,000 900,000 250,000

Total share capital 250,000 900,000 250,000 250,000 900,000 250,000

of which with voting rights 250,000 900,000 250,000 250,000 900,000 250,000

Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Nominal
Participation 

in % Nominal
Participation 

in %

Significant shareholders
European Financial Group EFG 
(Luxembourg) SA, which is ultimately 
fully controlled by the Latsis family 
interests 250,000 100 250,000 100

9. Fiduciary transactions

(All figures in thousands of CHF) Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

Deposits with third party banks 271,394 369,219
Deposits with Group banks 15,533 22,598

Total 286,927 391,817
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10. Income from trading activities, net

(All figures in thousands of CHF) 2012 2011

Foreign exchange 312 283

Total 312 283

11. Related party transactions

(All figures in thousands of CHF)

Commission and fee income from other services includes fees amounting to CHF 1,036 (2011: 
CHF 4,131) charged by the Bank to affiliates in respect of central and other costs relating to monitoring 
and other administrative activities.

Commission expenses include fees amounting to CHF 1,546 (2011: CHF 1,948) charged by the Bank’s 
Swiss subsidiary, EFG Bank AG, in respect of central and other cost relating tosome of the Bank’s 
customers.

Other operating expenses include fees amounting to CHF 991 (2011: CHF 996) charged to the Bank 
by its Swiss subsidiary, EFG Bank AG, in respect of transactions execution and settlement, back offices, 
custody and corporate actions, electronic fund transfers, daily risk management activities, information 
technology, legal, compliance and other support, which it provides to the Bank.

12. Receivables and payables to affiliates and loan to members of governing bodies

(All figures in thousands of CHF) 2012 2011

Receivables from affiliates - 39
Payables to affiliates 2,941 298

There are no loans to members of the Bank’s governing bodies (2011: none).

13. Other assets and other liabilities

Other assets and other liabilities consist essentially of gross replacement values of derivatives and VAT 
payable. The net balance of the balancing account relating these derivatives, if any, for which marking 
to market did not generate a corresponding entry to the statement of income (e.g. certain hedging 
instruments), is immaterial.

14. Extraordinary income and expenses

(All figures in thousands of CHF) 2012 2011

Extraordinary income
Partial reversal of the general provision 2,400 530
Other 2 151

Extraordinary expenses
Prior years' tax computation adjustments (603) -
Other (1) (1)

Total 1,798 680
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